Rare Diseases of the Oral Cavity, Neck, and Pharynx

OPEN ACCESS

\odot \odot \odot =

Authors Christoph A. Reichel

Affiliations

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University Hospital, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Germany

Key words

rare disease, orphan disease, neck, pharynx, oral cavity, lip

Bibliography

Laryngo-Rhino-Otol 2020; 100: S1–S24 DOI 10.1055/a-1331-2851

ISSN 0935-8943

© 2021. The Author(s).

This is an open access article published by Thieme under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonDerivative-NonCommercial-License, permitting copying and reproduction so long as the original work is given appropriate credit. Contents may not be used for commecial purposes, or adapted, remixed, transformed or built upon. (https://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)

Georg Thieme Verlag KG, Rüdigerstraße 14, 70469 Stuttgart, Germany

Correspondence

Prof. Dr. med. Christoph A. Reichel Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University Hospital Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Marchioninistr. 15 D-81377 Munich Germany christoph.reichel@med.uni-muenchen.de

ABSTRACT

Diseases occurring with an incidence of less than 1–10 cases per 10 000 individuals are considered as rare. Currently, between 5 000 and 8 000 rare or orphan diseases are known, every year about 250 rare diseases are newly described. Many of those pathologies concern the head and neck area. In many cases, a long time is required to diagnose an orphan disease. The lives of patients who are affected by those diseases are often determined by medical consultations and inpatient stays. Most orphan diseases are of genetic origin and cannot be cured despite medical progress. However, during the last years, the perception of and the knowledge about rare diseases has increased also due to the fact that publicly available databases have been created and self-help groups have been established which foster the autonomy of affected people. Only recently, innovative technical progress in the field of biogenetics allows individually characterizing the genetic origin of rare diseases in single patients. Based on this, it should be possible in the near future to elaborate tailored treatment concepts for patients suffering from rare diseases in the sense of translational and personalized medicine. This article deals with orphan diseases of the lip, oral cavity, pharynx, and cervical soft tissues depicting these developments. The readers will be provided with a compact overview about selected diseases of these anatomical regions. References to further information for medical staff and affected patients support deeper knowledge and lead to the current state of knowledge in this highly dynamic field.

CONTENTS

	Abstract	S1
1.	Introduction	52
2.	Lip, Oral Cavity, and Pharynx	52
2.1	Rare anomalies and malformations	52
2.1.1	Zenker's diverticulum	\$3
2.1.2	Isolated cleft palate	\$3
2.1.3	Van der Woude syndrome (VWS)	\$3
2.1.4	22q11.2 deletion syndrome	S5
2.1.5	Double lip	S6
2.2	Rare non-neoplastic diseases	S6
2.2.1	Specific tonsillo-pharyngitis	S6
2.2.2	Drug-related exanthema and enanthema	\$7
2.2.3	Pemphigoid	58
2.2.4	PFAPA syndrome	58
2.2.5	Melkersson-Rosenthal syndrome	58
2.2.6	Behcet-Adamantiades syndrome	S9
2.2.7	Vago-glossopharyngeal neuralgia	S9
2.3	Rare neoplastic diseases	S9
3.	Cervical Soft Tissues	S10
3.1	Rare anatomical anomalies and malformations	S10
3.1.1	Lymphatic and arteriovenous malformations	S10
3.1.2	Congenital midline cervical cleft	S11
3.1.3	Hypertrichosis of the anterior neck	S11
3.1.4	Hereditary thyroglossal durct cyst	S11
3.2	Rare non-neoplastic diseases	S11
3.2.1	Thrombosis of the internal jugular vein	S11
3.2.2	Necrotizing fasciitis	S12
3.2.3	Benign lymph node diseases and pseudotumors	S12
3.3	Rare neoplastic diseases	S13
3.3.1	Hamartoma	S13
3.3.2	Teratoma	S13
3.3.3	Schwannoma	S13
3.3.4	Extracranial meningioma	S14
3.3.5	Ectopic chordoma	S14
3.3.6	Neuroblastoma	S14
3.3.7	Extra-adrenal paragangliomas	S15
3.3.8	Soft tissue sarcoma	S15
4.	Conclusion and Outlook	S17
	Conflict of Interest	S17

1. Introduction

S17

For a long time, patients suffering from rare diseases were consi-S1 dered as "Orphans of Medicine". Despite medical progress, their lives are still often characterized by uncounted consultations and inpatient stays. Still, many orphan diseases cannot be cured. A con-S2 siderable percentage of those pathologies appears in the head and S2 neck region.

The definition of rare or orphan disease is inconsistent and varies between the different continents: in the European Union (EU) a disease is called rare when 50 or less per 100000 of the population (<0.05%) are affected. In the United States of America, however, a disease is considered as rare when less than 200 000 inhabitants (<0.06%) are affected, in Asia and Australia the incidence of 0.01 to 0.04% is given. According to the definition of the World Health Organization (WHO), diseases are rare when a prevalence of less than 0.065 to 0.1 % is observed. About 80 % of the so-called orphan diseases have a genetic origin, and about 50% of the affected patients are children. More than half of them (about 60%) do not become older than 5 years. Currently between 5,000 and 8,000 orphan diseases are known, each year 250 rare diseases are newly described (www.eurordis.org).

In order to increase the knowledge about orphan diseases and to improve the care for affected patients, specific databases and networks have been established in the past. In this context, the international database of orphan diseases called Orphanet (EU; http:// orphanet.net) and the database of the National Organization for Rare Disorders (USA; https://www.rarediseases.org) should be mentioned. At the same time, self-help groups and patient networks have been established that take care for the needs of patients under the umbrella of the European Organization of Rare Diseases (http://www. eurordis.org), the Versorgungsatlas für Menschen mit seltenen Erkrankungen (http://www.se-atlas.de) the Allianz Chronischer Seltener Erkrankungen (ACHSE; https://www.achse-online.de) the Bundesarbeitsgemeinschaft Selbsthilfe (http://www.bag-selbsthilfe.de) or the Nationale Kontakt- und Informationsstelle für Selbsthilfegruppen (NAKOS; http://www.nakos.de).

The Annual Meeting of the German Society of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, of 2021 focuses on rare diseases. In this way, a contribution to further improvement of the care and treatment of patients with rare diseases of the head and neck will be made. The present article will provide a compact overview of selected rare pathologies of the lip, the oral cavity, the pharynx, and the cervical soft tissue. References to further information about this highly dynamic topic allow interested medical staff to deepen their knowledge about individual diseases and mention possibilities to access the current state of knowledge. Finally, affected patients will be provided with contact data - if available - of self-help groups and patient networks.

2. Lip, Oral Cavity, and Pharynx

2.1 Rare anomalies and malformations

Due to the fact of its particular anatomical situation as entrance of the body, the head and neck area is closely related to the immune system. In the first years of life, crucial maturation processes occur

References

in this region based on the direct contact with pathogens which results among others in a hyperplasia of the pharyngeal and palatal tonsils. It is well known that certain conditions may cause the development of middle ear pathologies or impairment of respiration (in particular during sleep) because of these anatomical pathologies that might have severe consequences for the development of affected children if they remain untreated. In adults, anatomical alterations of the oral cavity and the pharynx leading to obstructive breathing disorders during sleep are considered as siqnificant risk factors for the development of cardiovascular diseases. In the context of assessing these probably underdiagnosed pathological alterations, this area should also be examined with regard to heterotopies of tissue of the salivary glands, thyroid glands, thymus, or parathyroid glands [84, 175, 189, 205]. Anatomical anomalies of the lingual surface as observed in geographic tongue (prevalence of 0.3–15%), black hairy tongue (prevalence of 0.15– 3%), fissured tongue (prevalence of 2-20%), or glossitis rhombica mediana are also frequently found in the population [128]. Regarding patients with diffuse swallowing disorders and/or pain in the head and neck area, the differential diagnoses should also include a long styloid process (prevalence of 4-7%) or ossification of the stylohyoid ligament (prevalence of 4-30%) (Eagle syndrome) which may lead to complaints in up to 10% of the cases [152,214]. More rarely, also osteophytes of the spine (Forestier's disease, hyperostotic spondylosis) [1], a longer cornu superior of the thyroid cartilage [138] or an extended pterygoid hamulus [197] may be responsible for such symptoms. Also a very rarely occurring amyloidosis, xanthomatosis, or lipoid proteinosis (Urbach-Wiethe syndrome) in this area must be included in the differential diagnosis of swallowing disorders [20, 79, 176]. In the following, a selection of rare anatomical anomalies and malformations of the lip, the oral cavity, and the pharynx will be elaborated in more detail.

2.1.1 Zenker's diverticulum

Zenker's diverticulum describes a bag-like protrusion of mucosa and submucosa or the dorsal wall of the hypopharynx cranial to the upper esophageal sphincter, the so-called Killian's triangle. Thus, it is a so-called pulsion or pseudo-diverticulum that was first described in 1764 by the anatomist Abraham Ludlow and then named after the pathologist Friedrich Albert von Zenker from Erlangen, Germany. Zenker's diverticulum manifests mainly in male patients of higher age, has a prevalence of less than 0.1% and so it is rare. Typical symptoms of affected patients are dysphagia, regurgitation of undigested food, and halitosis. Cachexia and aspiration pneumonia may be severe complications. By means of preoperative radiological swallowing studies, the diagnosis of Zenker's diverticulum may be confirmed [92, 100]. It must be differentiated from Kilian-Jamieson's diverticulum (in the area of the upper esophageal sphincter) or pharyngoceles. Beside surgical transcervical resection of the diverticulum by means of a stapler, it is increasingly treated by means of peroral myotomy under rigid endoscopic control with the CO₂ laser, diathermic scissors, or stapler. Also myotomies using flexible endoscopes under analgosedation are possible in case of suitable anatomical conditions. All three methods are promising regarding an improvement or even elimination of the complaints. In comparison to the endoluminal procedures, the complication rate is higher with the open surgical technique. Endoluminal procedures, however, are not possible in up to 13% of the patients due to anatomical reasons [92, 100].

Further information

For medical staff: [92]

2.1.2 Isolated cleft palate

Craniofacial clefts are the second frequent group of congenital malformations and with a prevalence of 1 of 500 (0.2%) of the population, they are comparably frequently observed. Clefts are mostly found in the the lip, the upper jaw, and/or the palate. Significantly more rarely, clefts occur in the the nose, the cheek, or the mandible. Combined cleft lip and palate are most frequently found (about 40–65%), followed by cleft lip and jaw, cleft lip (about 20–25%), or cleft palate (up to 30%). Males are more frequently affected than females (ratio 3:2); left-sided clefts occur more frequently than right-sided ones (ratio: 2:1), or as median clefts [27, 159].

Cleft lip and jaw develop between the 5th and 7th week of pregnancy, cleft palate between the 8th and 12th week of pregnancy. Their etiology is based on a complex interaction between genetic and environmental factors. Alcohol and tobacco abuse, the intake of retinoids, or the antiepileptic drug topiramate, ionizing radiation, and environmental contaminants as well as folic acid deficiency during pregnancy are suspected to promote the development of clefts [27, 159]. Generally, the diagnosis is possible as of the 22nd week of pregnancy by means of ultrasound. Children of parents suffering from clefts have an increased risk of craniofacial cleft development as well as other children of parents who already have a child suffering from a cleft. Often those clefts are associated with other anatomical malformations or syndromes (see > Table 1) such as the Van der Woude syndrome (see 2.1.3). With a prevalence of 1:2,000 (≙0.05%), the occurrence of isolated cleft palate is rather rare [27, 159].

Therapy aims at establishing a regular function of breathing, hearing, speaking, and chewing until school age which requires an interdisciplinary approach for the patients that is called primary treatment. In this context, measures of the disciplines of orthodontics, surgery, phoniatrics and pediatric audiology as well as speech therapy are applied. The surgical closure of the lip is usually performed between the 4th and 6th month of life or with a body weight of at least 5 kg; the closure of the soft palate is performed between the 7th and 15th month of life. The closure of the hard palate is scheduled between the 2nd and 5th year of life. In the context of secondary treatment, corrective surgeries are performed after cleft closure. Clefts in the nose, however, are usually corrected when the patients reach the adult age [195].

2.1.3 Van der Woude syndrome (VWS)

The Van der Woude syndrome (VWS, synonyms: lip pits, Demarquay syndrome, cleft lip with or without cleft palate with mucosal cysts of the lower lip; lower lip fistulas with facultative combination with clefts) is characterized by fistulas in the area of the lower lip (**Fig. 1**) together with clefts of the lip with or without cleft palate [204]. In addition, also hypodontia and dental hypoplasia are often observed in affected patients [142]. This disease mostly relies on an autosomal dominant mode of inheritance and represents the most frequent monogenetic type of cleft lip and palate with a

Table 1 Rare syndromic malformations.	Table 1 Continued.		
Abruzzo-Erickson syndrome	Malignant hyperthermia-arthogryposis-torticollis syndrome		
Ankylohlenharon filiforme adnatum-imperforate anus syndrome	Mandibulofacial dysostosis-microcephaly syndrome		
Ankyloblepharon-ectodermal defects-cleft lin/palate syndrome	Maternal hyperphenylaninemia		
Arthrogryposis-ectodermal dysplasia cleft lip/palate syndrome	Marden-Walker-like syndrome		
syndrome	Marden-Walker syndrome		
Atelosteogenesis type 1	Maxillonasal dysplasia, Binder syndrome		
Atelosteogenesis type 2	Meckel syndrome		
Atelosteogenesis type 3	Medeira-Dennis-Donnai syndrome		
Auriculocondylar syndrome	Median cleft of the upper lip with facial and nasal polyps syndrome		
Ausems-Wittebol Post-Hennekam syndrome	Microbrachycephaly-ptosis-cleft lip syndrome		
Bamforth syndrome	Microcephaly-deafness syndrome		
Barakat syndrome	Miller syndrome		
Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome	Nager syndrome		
Bixler-Christian-Gorlin syndrome	Omphalocele-cleft palate syndrome, lethal		
Blepharo-cheilo-odontic syndrome	Orofaciodigital syndrome, type 1–11		
Blepharonasofacial malformation syndrome	Otopalatodigital syndrome type 1		
Pharyngeal arch syndrome, x chromosomal	Otopalatodigital syndrome type 2		
Branchio-oculo-facial syndrome	PAI syndrome		
Branchiootic syndrome	Pallister-W syndrome		
Branchiootorenal syndrome	PARC syndrome		
Carey-Fineman-Ziter syndrome	Pierre-Robin sequence		
Catel-Manzke syndrome	Popliteal pterygium syndrome		
Cerebro-oculo-facial-skelettal syndrome	Popliteal pterygium syndrome Bartsocas-Papas type		
Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease	Rapadilino syndrome		
CHARGE syndrome	Richieri-Costa-Pereira syndrome		
Chitayat-Meunier-Hodgkinson syndrome	Roberts syndrome		
Cleft palate-short stature-vertebral anomalied syndrome	Say syndrome		
Conductive hearing loss-malformation of the auricle syndrome	STAC3 disease		
Cornelia-de-Lange syndrome	Syngnathia-cleft palate syndrome		
Crane-Heise syndrome	TARP syndrome		
Diamond-Blackfan anemia	Toriello-Carey syndrome		
Femoral-facial syndrome	Treacher-Collins syndrome		
Fetal hydantoin syndrome	Ventricular extrasystoles with syncopal episodes-perodactyly-Robin		
Fraser syndrome	sequence syndrome		
Fryns syndrome	Verloove-Vanhorick-Brubakk syndrome		
GEnitopalatocardiac syndrome	Vonwinkei syndrome		
Goldberg-Shprintzen megacolon syndrome	Waardenburg syndrome, type 1–4		
Goldenhar syndrome			
Gordon syndrome	Ziologora syndrome		
Hardikar syndrome	A selection of rare syndromes is listed that manifest in the context of		
Hemifacial microsomia	malformation of the lip, the oral cavity, the pharynx, and the cervical		
Histiocytosis-lymphadenopathy syndrome	soft parts (own list taken from www.orpha.net).		
Hydrocephalus-cleft palate-joint contractures syndrome			
Hypoglossia-hypodactyly syndrome			
Jones syndrome			
Kapur-Toriello syndrome			
Kniest dysplasia			

Larsen syndrome



Fig. 1 Fistulas of the lower lip. Clinical manifestation of fistulas in the area of the lower lip (bilateral) of a 7-year-old male patient (figure taken from [40]).

prevalence of 1–9 of 100 000 (corresponding to 0.001 to 0.009%) in the European and Asian population with high penetrance and variable expression. Hence, it is responsible for about 2% of all cleft lip and palate occurrences. Both genders are equally affected by VWS. In type 1 (which is found in about 70% of the patients with VWS), mutations of the interferon-regulating factor 6 gene are observed (IRF-6; locus: 1q32.2); the gene product regulates the proliferation and differentiation of keratinocytes. The majority of those mutations are found in exon 3 and 4 (DNA binding domain) as well as exon 7 to 9 (protein binding domain) [47]. In cases of type 2 (which affects about 5% of patients with VWS), mutations are found in the gene of the nuclear transcription factor called grainyhead-like transcription factor 3 (GRHL3; locus: 1p36.11). The origin of the remaining 25% of the cases is still unknown [121]. The diagnosis of these diseases is made based on the typical clinical findings, the family history, and genetic examination results. Typically, the treatment comprises surgery and orthodontic therapy (see 2.1.2).

Congenital fistulas in the lower lip also occur in other syndromes:

- Orofaciodigital syndrome 1 (OFD1; congenital fistulas of the lower lip together with anomalies in the area of the oral cavity, face, hands, feet, brain, and kidneys) that is inherited with a prevalence of 1:50 000 of the population (corresponding to 0.002%) by X chromosomal dominant mutations of the CXORF5 gene [63]. It is associated with dysfunction of the primary cilia and lethal in male fetuses [52, 70].
- Kabuki syndrome (synonyms: Kabuki-makeup syndrome, Niikawa–Kuroki syndrome; prevalence of 1:36 000 [0.003 %]; congenital fistulas are found in the area of the lower lip together with a facial dysmorphia, postnatal growth retardation, skeletal anomalies, mental retardation, unusual dermal papillae) is caused by mutations of the KMT2D (56–75%) or

KDM6A gene (3–8%) and reminds of the traditional Japanese theater ("Kabuki") [23, 144].

 Popliteal pterygium syndrome (PPS; congenital fistulas in the area of the lower lip together with popliteal pterygia, oral clefts, syngnathia, dysplasia of the toenails, syndactyly of the toes, congenital heart defects, and genital malformations) occurs with a prevalence of 1:300 000 neonates (0.0003 %) and is also inherited by autosomal dominant mutations of the IRF-6 gene [115].

2.1.4 22q11.2 deletion syndrome

The 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (synonyms: velocardio-facial syndrome, Shprintzen syndrome or - with immune defects - DiGeorge syndrome) is a spontaneously developing (in about 85% of the cases) or autosomal-dominantly inherited disease which is highly variable in its manifestation. With a prevalence of 0.025-0.05% of the population it is the most frequently observed chromosomal microdeletion in humans. The majority of the affected patients show a 3 Mb DNA deletion on chromosome 22 leading to a haploinsufficiency of around 106 genes. They comprise coding and noncoding RNA as well as pseudogenes. In this context, T-box transcription factor 1 (TBS1) and DiGeorge critical region 8 (DGCR8) play a crucial role for the clinical presentation of the affected patients. The significant differences in the characteristics of the disease can be explained by mutations of further genetic and epigenetic factors [53]. The diagnosis of this disease is made by genetic analysis, in cases of planning to become pregnant, genetic analyses are recommended.

Beside congenital middle ear malformations, heart defects (*e.g.*, ventricular septal defect, tetralogy of Fallot, truncus arteriosus, interrupted aortic arch), immune deficiencies (due to thymus hypoplasia), hypoparathyroidism, developmental disorders, behavioral disorders, and facial dysmorphia, the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome is often associated with anomalies in the area of the palate. Hereby, weakness of the palatal muscles, (submucous) cleft palate, or uvula bifida are found. Furthermore, also laryngo-tracheo-esophageal, gastrointestinal, genital, skeletal, ophthalmological, and central nervous anomalies as well as psychiatric, autoimmune, and malignant diseases may be associated with the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. Female and male individuals are equally affected, further there is no ethnical predilection. However, the mean life expectancy of patients suffering from 22q11.2 deletion syndrome is limited [15, 162].

The therapy of heart defects, cleft palate, and middle ear malformations of patients with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome is usually based on a multidisciplinary approach. Besides, an early, comprehensive, and long-lasting socio-medical support of the affected patients is necessary. For children that are prone to infections, infection prophylaxis is required [16].

Further information

For medical staff: Guideline of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften e.V. (AWMF; http://www.awmf.org).

For affected patients: self-help association (Selbsthilfevereinigung für Lippen-Kiefer-Gaumen-Fehlbildungen e.V.; http://www. lkg-selbsthilfe.de), Lippen-Kiefer-Gaumenspalten Forum (http:// www.lkgs.net), Deutscher interdisziplinärer Arbeitskreis Lippen-Kiefer-Gaumenspalte/Kraniofaziale Anomalien (http://www.ak-lkg. de).

2.1.5 Double lip

A double lip is characterized by a soft tissue excess in the area of the inner aspect of the lip which originates from hyperplasia of the labial gland tissue. It mostly occurs on both sides of the upper lip, but it may also develop only on one side and/or affect the lower lip. Ethnical or gender-specific predilection is not known. However, are differentiated congenital and an acquired type. It is assumed that the congenital type of double lip develops due to a persisting sulcus between the pars glabrosa and pars villosa of the lip during the first three months of gestation. The acquired type of double lip, however, is assumed to develop because of (recurring) local trauma [8]. Furthermore, a double lip occurs in the context of Ascher's syndrome associated with the triad of blepharochalasis, non-toxic euthyroid goiter, and double lip, which has been described in about 100 cases up to now [3]. The double lip is mostly free of symptoms, however, it may also cause problems with speaking and chewing. The surgical removal of the hypertrophic tissue with preservation of the underlying muscles provides good functional and esthetic results.

Further information

For medical staff: [3].

Teleangiectasias in the context of Rendu-Osler disease (prevalence of less than 0.0005 %) often occur also in the lip, the oral cavity, and the pharynx, but they mostly become symptomatic in the area of the nasal mucosa. Here, the contribution of Fabian Sommer in this volume and the review article of Haubner and Kühnel [81] are recommended. An overview about further rare syndromic malformations of the lip, the oral cavity, and the pharynx is given in **> Table 1**.

2.2 Rare non-neoplastic diseases

The particular anatomical characteristics of the head and neck area do not only explain the exceptional significance of this body region for immunological processes, but are also the basis for the extraordinary importance of infectious diseases in Oto-rhino-laryngology. Viral (mostly caused by adenoviruses, influenza/parainfluenza viruses, rhinoviruses, enteroviruses, corona viruses, respiratory syncytial virus, Epstein-Barr virus, and other viruses) and bacterial (mostly caused by Streptococcus pyogenes, Streptococci of the groups C and G, Haemophilus influenzae, Nocardia, corynebacteria, Neisseria gonorrhoeae, and other bacteria) tonsillopharyngitis is the most frequently observed disease of the head and neck giving reason for more than 5 % of all medical consultations in Germany. Therefore, the identification and treatment of rarely occurring complications of these pathologies such as abscess formation (30 cases per 100 000 people per year) belongs to the daily routine of oto-rhinolaryngologists [85]. Furthermore, also inflammatory alterations frequently occur in the lip (cheilitis) as they are observed in the context of herpes simplex labialis (prevalence of more than 90% of the population) and the angular cheilitis (synonyms: rhagades, perlèche; prevalence of 0.7%) or of the oral mucosa as observed in gingivostomatitis herpetica (synonyms: aphthous stomatitis, oral thrush), of herpes zoster (incidence of about 1% per year), or habitual aphthae (prevalence of about 5-60%). Furthermore, also in the context of autoimmune processes such as lichen ruber mucosae (prevalence of about 0.5%) or chronic-inflammatory gut diseases (prevalence of 0.2%) efflorescences of the oral and pharyngeal mucosa are frequently found. Also iatrogenic alterations of the mucosa and mycoses (e. g., caused by Candida spp., Aspergillus spp., Cryptococcus spp., Rhizopus spp., Mucor spp., Histoplasma spp., Blastomyces spp., Sporothrix spp., Trichophyton spp., or Rhinosporidium seeberi) in the oral cavity and pharynx after irradiation and/or chemotherapy, after bone marrow or stem cell transplantation as well as in the context of graft vs. host reactions are often found by oto-rhino-laryngologists in their daily routine [139]. The same is true for damage in this area by foreign bodies, acids, or alkaline solutions. For oral manifestations of diseases that very rarely occur in middle Europe and that are caused by protozoa, arthropods, and other parasites (e. g., Leishmaniosis, larva migrans) or bacteria (e. g., bacillus anthracis), the author refers to the specific literature regarding infectiology and tropical medicine. Referring to angioedema which is well known to oto-rhino-laryngologists (prevalence of about 1:100 000) a recent review article of Bas [14] and the guideline of the AWMF are recommended. Regarding disorders of tasting, for which the incidence together with the incidence of olfactory disorders is supposed to amount to 50,000 newly occurring cases per year, the guideline of the AWMF is recommended. The following paragraph will focus on rare non-neoplastic diseases of the lip, the oral cavity, and the pharynx.

2.2.1 Specific tonsillo-pharyngitis

In cases of persistent courses of sore throat, immune deficiency must also be included as differential diagnosis [93] as well as specific infections (**> Fig. 2**).

The mycobacterium tuberculosis complex (*M. tuberculosis, M. bovix [ssp. bovis* and *caprae], M. africanum, M. microti, M. canetti* and *M. pinnipedii*) causes extrapulmonary manifestations of tuberculosis in 10% of the cases, even rarer in the head and neck area. Beside the cervical lymph nodes (about 35%) and the larynx (about 27–30%), also the oropharynx (about 13–15%) is a predilection site. Clinically, often a painful ulcer is found in the affected mucosa [26]. The treatment employs an antibiotic combination therapy. For this purpose, substances including isoniazide, rifampicin, ethambutol, pyrazinamide, streptomycin are currently available.

Also syphilis in the oral cavity and the pharynx occur rarely. Clinically, they present at the location of a primary affection caused by an infection with *Treponema pallidum* as an indurated painless ulcer (chancre) which spontaneously heals after 4–6 weeks. In the secondary stage, multiple plaques may develop in the mucosa of the mouth, tongue, and pharynx. Due to the missing resistance to antibiotics of *Treponema pallidum*, syphilis is still treated with penicillin V [99, 119].

Actinomycetes are bacteria of the physiological oral flora that usually develop their pathogenic potential only in submucous tissue layers and in the context of (often posttraumatic) mixed infections in combination with other pathogens. In cases of cervico-facial actinomycosis, nodes develop in the different regions of the head and neck that may mimic nearly every disease. Their incidence



▶ Fig. 2 Specific inflammation of the oral cavity and the pharynx. Representative pictures taken from manifestations of tuberculosis (a; * shows the retropharyngeal swelling caused by tuberculosis [86]), of syphilis (b [166]), and diphtheria (c [126]) in the area of the oral cavity and the oropharynx.

is estimated to 2–5 cases per 100 000 people per year. Typically, the lesions may break open and leak large amounts of pus, which often contains characteristic granules. Therapeutically, a long-term treatment with penicillin is applied. Alternatively, also tetracyclines, erythromycin, clindamycin, or ciprofloxacin turned out to be effective [174].

Francisella tularensis spp. are a group of gram-negative, aerobe bacteria that are mainly transmitted by rabbits or hares and cause tularemia (rabbit fever). Furthermore, the transmission may also occur via horseflies, flies, and tics or via contaminated water, dust, or food. In Germany, 10–30 cases of this kind of zoonosis are reported per year, can be differentiated glandular, ulceroglandular, occuloglandular, typhoid, pulmonary, and pharyngeal tularemia; the pharyngeal type is most rarely observed. Clinically, multiple painful ulcerations in the mouth and oral cavity become apparent. Therapeutically effective are aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines, chloramphenicol, and rifampicin. Without treatment, the diseases may become lethal in up to 60% [50, 82, 183].

Diphtheria (formerly referred to as "true croup") is caused by toxin-developing strains of the bacterium Corynebacterium diphtheriae (host: humans) as well as the strains of C. ulcerans (broad spectrum) and C. pseudotuberculosis (host: sheep, goat) via airborne and contact infection. The incubation time amounts to 2-5 days. Clinically, severe inflammation of the pharynx and larynx is found, sometimes also of the skin with grey-whitish, easily blooding surface and sweetish smell from the mouth. The inflammatory swelling may even lead to suffocation. In addition, a toxic damage of heart, kidneys, and nerves may occur. The contagiousness amounts to 2-4 weeks and longer, with antibiotic therapy it is reduced to 48–96 hours. A high number of infections acquired in Germany is associated with the contact to dogs, cats, and farm animals (C. ulcerans). If clinically suspected, a swab should be taken immediately in order to identify the pathogen and the toxin. Afterwards, the antitoxin must directly be applied to block the toxin-mediated protein synthesis inhibition and antibiotic therapy with penicillin or macrolides should be started to eradicate the pathogen [179]. The antitoxin application already at the time of clinical suspicion is crucial for the further course of the disease because cellularly bound diphtheria toxin can no longer be neutralized by the antitoxin. The STIKO (Ständige Impfkommission, Standing Committee on Immunization) recommends prophylactic vaccination.

Further information

For medical staff: Robert Koch Institut (http://www.rki.de), Paul Ehrlich Institut (http://www.pei.de).

2.2.2 Drug-related exanthema and enanthema

Erythema exsudativum multiforme (incidence of 0.01–0.1% per year) describes an acute inflammatory reaction that causes convex, cockade-like skin or mucosal lesions (► Fig. 3). A minor form affecting mainly distally the upper extremities and a major form with skin affection of the whole body including lip and oral mucosa are distinguished. Lesions generally recede spontaneously, however, they often recur. Infections especially with herpes simplex viruses or mycoplasms as well as more rarely also drugs are suspected to be triggering factors of erythema exsudativum multiforme. The diagnosis is made clinically. Therapeutically, immunosuppressants and, if needed, antiviral medication is applied [17, 73].

The Stevens Johnson syndrome and the toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN; incidence of about 0.001% per year) are mostly triggered by sulfonamides, allopurinol, aromatic anticonvulsants, lamotrigine etc. and are severe blistering skin reactions. The symptoms typically develop 4–28 days after medication. While only small skin areas are affected in Stevens Johnson syndrome (<10% of the body surface), more than 30% of the body surface are involved in cases of TEN. Beside fever and general symptoms, also regularly erosive, crusting mucosal alterations in the lip, oral cavity, and pharynx are found as well as in the eyelids and genitals. For treatment, immunosuppressants and antibiotics are used, an intensive medical care with reverse isolation may be necessary. The mortality of this disease amounts to 5% (Stevens Johnson syndrome) or up to 25% (TEN), respectively [17, 73].

Sweet syndrome (Synonym: acute febrile neutrophil dermatosis) is a very rare, often recurrent disease (up to now about 100 cases have been described) which is characterized by the sudden development of fever, neutrophilia in the peripheral blood, and skin changes (papules and plaques with dermal infiltration by neutrophilic granulocytes). Rarely, also the oral and pharyngeal mucosa are involved [192]. The idiopathic/classic type (about 60–80% of the cases; mostly women, most frequently in the context of infections of the upper respiratory pathways or the gut and during pregnancy), the malignoma-related type (about 20% of the cases, most frequently in the context of acute myeloic leukemia), and the drug-



▶ Fig. 3 Drug-induced exanthema and enanthema. Manifestation of the erythema exsudativum multiforme in the head and neck as exfoliative cheilitis with hemorrhagic crusting of the lip vermilion (figures taken from [188]).

induced type (about 5% of the cases, most frequently after treatment with granulocyte colony stimulation factor [G-CSF]). The treatment of Sweet syndrome includes applying immunosuppressants [169].

2.2.3 Pemphigoid

The so-called pemphigoids are rare diseases of the skin and the mucosa characterized by intra- or subepidermal blistering. The origin are autoantibodies directed against certain structural proteins of the dermis and epidermis. The diagnosis is made clinically, serologically, and histopathologically are differentiated. A two groups of this disease: pemphigus (incidence of 1–2 cases per 1 000 000 people per year corresponding to 0.0001–0.0002%) and pemphigoid (incidence of 13 cases per 1 000 000 people per year, corresponding to 0.0013%). Therapeutically, immunosuppressive drugs are applied [171, 172].

In cases of pemphigus, antibodies directed against the desmosomal structural proteins 1 and 3 are found resulting in an intraepithelial, suprabasal acantholytic blistering. While the more frequently occurring subtype of pemphigus vulgaris often leads to alterations of the oral mucosa (> Fig. 4), the less frequently occurring subtype of pemphigus foliaceus only rarely leads to lesions in the area of the oral cavity. In cases of the subtype of paraneoplastic pemphigus which may develop in the context of neoplastic processes (*e. g.*, B-cell Non-Hodgkin lymphoma, chronic lymphatic leukemia), also intraepidermal blistering with acantholysis occurs, however, hereby the autoantibodies are directed against plakin proteins [171].

In cases of pemphigoid, however, a subepidermal blistering develops which is caused by autoantibodies directed against the components of the hemidesmosomal complex in the area of the basal membrane. Among others, bullous pemphigoid (only in 10–20% the mucosa of the oral cavity is affected), mucosa pemphigoid, and scarring pemphigoid (no predominant mucosa affection) subtype are differentiated. The involvement of the eyes is a complication of the pemphigoid which may even lead to blindness [172].

Further information

For medical staff: Dermatologic literature as well as guidelines of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org).

For patients: Pemphigus + Pemphigoid Self-Help Group e.V. (http://pemphigus-pemphigoid-selbsthilfe.de).

2.2.4 PFAPA syndrome

The non-hereditary PFAPA syndrome (synonym: Marshall syndrome with periodic fever) is characterized by periodic fevers lasting for 3-6 days, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngotonsillitis, and cervical lymphadenitis as well as the absence of diarrhea, breast pain, skin rashes, and arthritis. The diagnosis is made based on the Eurofever/PRINTO classification by the presence of 7 out of these 8 criteria [66]. PFAPA syndrome is observed more frequently in boys than in girls and manifests mainly at the age of 2–5 years. The prevalence of this disease is unclear - up to now at least 500 cases have been documented in the literature. It seems to be pathogenetically significant that the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-1β is released in an uncontrolled way, the origin depends on several factors. Therapy comprises the administration of corticosteroids as well as tonsillectomy, in cases of mild courses or for palliation of the symptoms NSAR is applied. Refractory cases (after tonsillectomy) are rare [184].

For differential diagnosis, especially monogenic autoinflammatory syndromes must be excluded. Those are for example the familial Medierranean fever (FMF; mutations in the MEFV gene), the TNF receptor-associated periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS, mutations in the TNFS-RF1A gene), the hyperimmunoglobulin D syndrome/mevalonate acid kinase syndrome (HIDS/MKD, mutations in MVK gene), and the cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome (CAPS, mutations in NLRP3 gene). In the context of CAPS, familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome (FCAS), Muckle-Wells syndrome (MWS), chronic infantile neurological, cutaneous, and articular syndrome (CINCA), and neonatal-onset multisystem inflammatory disorder (NOMID) have to be distinguished [184].

Further information

For medical staff: Pediatric literature as well as guidelines of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org). Pediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO, http://www.printo.it).

2.2.5 Melkersson-Rosenthal syndrome

The idiopathic orofacial granulomatosis (OFG) describes a rare chronic inflammatory disease which summarizes Miescher cheilitis (isolated cheilitis granulomatosis) and the Melkersson-Rosenthal syndrome. Melkersson-Rosenthal syndrome is characterized by the symptom triad of orofacial swelling, lingua plicata (about 30–80%) and attacks of peripheral facial paresis (about 30–90%); with a prevalence of 4–8 per 10 000 people (corresponding to 0.04–0.08%) it belongs to the group of rare diseases. The three symptoms do not always occur simultaneously (in about 20–75% of the cases). The origin of this syndrome is still unknown, however, an autosomal dominant inheritance is assumed. Females are more frequently affected than males, the symptom onset usually occurs in the early adulthood. With regard to children, only 30 cases of Melkersson-Rosenthal syndrome have been described. The diagnosis is considered as confirmed with the clinical manifestation together



▶ Fig. 4 Blistering autoimmune dermatoses. Manifestation of pemphigus vulgaris in the area of the hard palate (figures taken from [188]).

with the histological evidence of cheilitis granulomatosa. In cases of developing symptoms, therapy includes oral and topical/intralesional application of corticosteroids. In cases of refractory/recurrent course, other immunosuppressants are applied, if needed, also surgical decompression of the facial nerve should be discussed [44, 164].

Regarding granulomatous diseases that manifest mostly in the nose such as rhinoscleroma or granulomatosis with polyangiitis (former: Wegener's disease) of the head and neck, the contributions of Fabian Sommer and Stephan Hackenberg are recommended.

2.2.6 Behcet-Adamantiades syndrome

Behcet-Adamantiades syndrome is a systemic autoimmune disease of the small vessels, which is frequently observed in the Eastern Mediterranean regions, central and Eastern Asia. In Turkey, a prevalence of up to 420 per 100 000 people (0.42 %) is reported, while only 5.2 per 100 000 people (0.0052%) are affected in the USA [9, 28]. The occurrence of this disease is associated with a genetic disposition (HLA-B51/B5) and is triggered by acute infections and environmental factors. The disease mainly manifests in the 3rd decade of life. Clinically, typical aphthous lesions are found in the whole oral and pharyngeal mucosa (98.5% of the patients), genital ulcerations (63.7% of the patients) as well as skin alterations (papulopostular lesions, erythema nodosum; 62.5% of the patients), arthropathies (53% of the patients), and ocular manifestations (58.1% of the patients). Hereby nearly all structures of the eye may be affected which may lead to blindness within very few years. In rare cases, venous thrombosis (22.7% of the patients), neurological or psychiatric manifestations (10.9% of the cases), or gastrointestinal involvement (11.6% of the patients) are observed. Also pulmonary, cardiac, and renal manifestations have been described, severe courses occur in 12% of the patients. Oral aphthae are mainly treated with chlorhexidine solution, also local anesthetics, NSAR, or 5-amino-salicylic acid are applied. Isolated lesions may be etched for example with silver nitrate. Furthermore, systemic immune suppressive/modulatory drugs are applied [80].

Further information

For medical staff: Guideline of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org).

For patients: Deutsche Rheumaliga (http://www.rheuma-liga. de), Deutsches Register M. Adamantiades-Behcet (http://www. behcet.de), Behcet self-help (http://www.behcet-selbsthilfe.de).

2.2.7 Vago-glossopharyngeal neuralgia

If the primary clinical and radiological findings are inconspicuous, also a rarely occurring vago-glossopharyngeal neuralgia must be taken into consideration in cases of the leading symptom of "sore throat". The incidence of this disease is estimated to 0.7 cases per 100 000 people per year [112]. Typically, sudden sharp pains occur, sometimes even longer lasting, in the area of the ear, the tonsils, the larynx and/or the base of tongue that may be triggered by swallowing, speaking, chewing, or coughing. Accompanying symptoms may be bradycardia, hypotonia, syncopes, or even asystoles. Interestingly, spontaneous remission is described in up to 80% of the cases. It is assumed that the vago-glossopharyngeal neuralgia is based on a neurovascular compression by the posterior cerebellar artery or vertebral artery. Therapeutically, carbamazepine and gabapentin are applied. Alternatively, microsurgical decompression of the nerves may lead to good symptom control [106].

Regarding further neurological diseases that may manifest as dystonia or myoclonus in the area of the lingual, palatal, and pharyngeal muscles, specific neurological literature is recommended.

Further information

For medical staff: Guideline of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org).

For patients: Deutsche Schmerzgesellschaft (https://www. schmerzgesellschaft.de).

2.3 Rare neoplastic diseases

In many cases, neoplasms of the oral cavity and the pharynx are benign. Tornwaldt cysts (bursa pharyngealis) are considered as the most frequently observed congenital masses of the nasopharynx with a prevalence of up to 4% in the population [135]. Further examples of benign neoplasms in this area are papillomas, fibromas, hemangiomas, lipomas, rhabdomyomas, leiomyomas, chondromas, and osteomas. Much more rarely (less than 1 % of all head and neck tumors), juvenile angiofibromas are found in the nasopharynx that are nonetheless well known to experienced oto-rhino-laryngologists [129]. However, also the prevalence of precancerous conditions such as leukoplakia or erythroplakia is rather high and is estimated to 1-5% worldwide, while leukoplakia are most frequently found with a prevalence of about 2%. More than 90% of all malignant neoplasms of the head and neck are squamous cell carcinomas. Cancer of the larynx (in Germany currently 4.3 newly diagnosed patients per 100 000 people per year, corresponding to 0.0043%), of the oropharynx and the oral cavity (in Germany currently 4.3 newly diagnosed cases per 100 000 people per year, corresponding to 0.0043%), of the lip (in Germany currently 1.8 newly diagnosed patients per 100 000 people per year corresponding to 0.0018%), of the hypopharynx (in Germany currently 1.7 cases per 100 000 people per year corresponding to 0.0017 %), and the nasopharynx (in Germany currently 0.5 newly diagnosed patients per year corresponding to 0.0005%) are nominally rare, but taken together squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck rank sixth on the list of malignant tumor diseases worldwide. Regarding the treatment of these malignomas, still mainly multimodal concepts are applied that comprise surgery, radiotherapy, and pharmacological therapies. Hereby, increasingly immune therapy and proton irradiation gain importance [198]. Furthermore, lymphomas are diagnosed as second most frequent primary malignant tumor disease of the head and neck [193]. Overall, 25 % of all extranodal lymphomas have their origin in the head and neck region. The treatment of these malignant tumors is generally performed by the colleagues of medical oncology. In this context, the specific literature and the current guidelines of the AWMF are recommended. Further rare benign and malignant neoplastic diseases that may not only affect the lip, oral cavity, and pharynx, but also cervical soft tissues, will be discussed in Chapter 3.3.

3. Cervical Soft Tissues

3.1 Rare anatomical anomalies and malformations

In the context of anatomical anomalies and malformations of the cervical soft tissues, first median and lateral cervical cysts and fistulas must be taken into account. Their prevalence amounts to about 5 or 2%, respectively [2]. An extreme form of a remnant from the embryonic stage is the extremely rare occurrence of an immature twin within the more mature twin (fetus in fetu) in the neck area for which only few case reports have been published [207, 213]. More frequently, the congenital or acquired misalignment of the neck called torticollis is observed that affects about 0.5% of the population and thus it is not an orphan disease according to the definition [51]. One possibly underdiagnosed cause for torticollis may be the pain-related relieving posture of the neck due to an inflammatory atlanto-axial subluxation that may occur in the context of infections of the upper airways or after surgical interventions of the head and neck. As well-known, this disease is named after the French surgeon Pierre Grisel as Grisel syndrome (synonym: torticollis atlantoepistrophealis, Watson-Jones disease) [54]. The following chapter will deal with nominally rare anatomical anomalies and malformations of the cervical soft tissues.

3.1.1 Lymphatic and arteriovenous malformations

Irregular anatomical courses and aneurysms of cervical vessels are not rare but they may be crucial to head and neck surgeons for preoperative planning. Furthermore, the prevalence of congenital vascular malformations is estimated to 4–5% in the population, 60% of which involve the head and neck [71]. According to the classification of the International Society for the Study of Vascular Anomalies (ISSVA), vascular malformations are categorized with regard to their hemodynamic properties. Capillary, venous, and lymphatic low-flow lesions may occur in an isolated way, but also in combination with other anatomical anomalies as in the context of Klippel-Trénaunay, Sturge-Weber, or Proteus syndrome. Similarly, it is the case with arteriovenous high-flow lesions as they occur in cases of Parkes-Weber or CLOVES syndrome. While capillary (prevalence of 0.3%), venous (prevalence of about 1%; formerly called cavernous hemangioma), and combined vascular malformations are observed relatively frequently in the population, lymphatic (prevalence of about 0.01%; formerly called lymphangioma) and arteriovenous (prevalence of about 0.01 %; formerly called arteriovenous hemangioma) malformations and fistulas belong to the field of orphan diseases.

Lymphatic malformations are congenital malformations of the lymphatic system [72]. They develop based on defects during embryonic lymphangiogenesis. The exact pathological mechanisms are still unknown. In the neck, where they are found most frequently (in about 75% of the cases) [38], lymphatic malformations are also called cystic hygroma or hygroma cysticum or lymphangioma colli. Mostly, these malformations occur sporadically and unifocally. On palpation, lymphangiomas appear soft, pulseless, and without pain on pressure. Often they shimmer bluish through the skin. Beside esthetic impairment, they may cause significant functional problems (e. g., turning the head, opening the mouth) up to obstruction of the airways. Complications occur in particular when these malformations are infected which often leads to an acute growth of the lesions. The diagnosis is made by ultrasound and MRI based on their morphological and hemodynamic properties. Depending on their structure, solid, micro- (cyst diameter of less than 2 cm) and macro-cystic (cyst diameter of more than 2 cm) are differentiated. Beside surgery (especially in cases of solid lesions), sclerotherapy may be performed in particular for micro- and macrocystic lesions (e. g., with Picibanil [OK-432, Chungai Pharmaceutical Co., Tokyo, Japan], ethanol, bleomycin, or doxycycline) [10]. In particularly complex cases, the application of mTOR inhibitors such as sirolimus may be appropriate which is currently investigated in the context of clinical trials [210].

Arteriovenous malformations and fistulas are congenital vascular malformations where blood from the arterial vessels directly flows into the venous vascular system without passing through the capillary system. Due to their typical infiltrative growth behavior, they may destroy surrounding tissue including bone while massive life-threatening bleeding may occur. Extracranial arteriovenous malformations are mostly observed in the head and neck region. For diagnosis, MR and CT angiography are applied that allows assessing the hemodynamism and invasiveness of the lesions. The treatment of those lesions is performed by means of transarterial, -venous or -cutaneous embolization or surgical removal as well as a combination of both treatment modalities [109].

Further information

For medical staff: International Society for the Study of Vascular Anomalies (https://www.issva.org), Deutsche interdisziplinäre Gesellschaft für Gefäßanomalien e.V. (https://diggefa.de).

For patients: Bundesverband Angeborene Gefäßfehlbildungen e.V. (www.angiodysplasie.de).

3.1.2 Congenital midline cervical cleft

The congenital midline cervical cleft (CMCC) is a very rare anatomical anomaly of the anterior neck. This malformation was first described in the middle of the 19th century by the anatomist Hubert von Luschka from Heidelberg, Germany [77], before it was presented also to the English speaking readership by Bailey in 1925 [76]. Regarding its pathogenesis, a multitude of different hypotheses is discussed – according to the general opinion, a missing intrauterine fusion of the facial processes of the first and second pharyngeal arch due to mechanical or vascular factors is responsible for this developmental disorder [11]. More recent investigations indicate that polymorphisms of single nucleotides might be the cause of the development of the congenital midline cervical cleft [132].

Up to now, around 200 cases of congenital midline cervical clefts have been described, only few of them are associated with other cleft formations in the body midline [30]. In order to avoid contractures in the neck and from an esthetic point of view, early surgical excision of the malformation with defect closure by means of W or Z plastic is recommended [12].

Further information

For medical staff: [153]

3.1.3 Hypertrichosis of the anterior neck

An abnormal amount of hair growth at the anterior neck is a localized type of hypertrichosis which is limited to the area of the cervical skin at the level of the laryngeal prominence. This disease may be inherited or acquired and manifest already at birth or later in childhood. Up to now, at least 40 cases of isolated hypertrichosis of the anterior neck have been observed [21, 42, 61, 133, 148, 157 , 196, 201]. In 30% of these cases, additionally an association with peripheral sensomotor neuropathy and mental retardation was found. The origin of this disease is not known. For therapy, epilation is applied in order to reduce the abnormal hair growth.

Further information

For medical staff: [133]

3.1.4 Hereditary thyroglossal durct cyst

As mentioned above, cyst of the thyroglossal duct is one of the most frequently observed malformations of the neck with a prevalence of about 5% in the population [2]. This cystic lesion is based on a persistence of the thyroglossal duct and becomes apparent in childhood as painless, elastic swelling in front of the lingual bone, often accompanied by swallowing disorders or in the context of superinfection. Sonographic criteria for the presence of a median cervical cyst are an irregular, poorly defined cystic wall as well as intralesional septa with liquid and solid parts [94]. In rare cases, a papillary thyroid carcinoma is found in the cyst epithelium [18, 141, 199].

While most cases occur sporadically, there are interestingly also very rare hereditary forms that have been observed in at least 9 families with a total of 30 affected persons [154, 170]. Beside autosomal-recessive inheritance, the majority consisted in autosomaldominant types. The exact genetic origin of this hereditary type of median cervical cyst is still unknown.

The current treatment standard consists of complete surgical excision of the median cervical cyst including the removal of the median part of the lingual bone and if needed of parts of the tongue (surgery according to Sistrunk with different modifications [181]). In this way, the recurrence rate after surgery may be reduced to less than 5% [48]. Besides, recent clinical trials give hints that also sclerotherapeutic approaches (e. g. with ethanol or OK-432) may be successful in this context [32, 194].

3.2 Rare non-neoplastic diseases

The treatment of phlegmonous or abscessing inflammations of the cervical soft tissues as well as hemangiomas or seromas in this re-

gion which may occur in the context of postoperative complications belongs to the routine of experienced ENT specialists. Regarding neoplastic pathologies which manifest mainly in the salivary glands in cases of IgG4-associated diseases of the head and neck, the article written by Claudia Scherl in this booklet is referred to. Thromboses of the internal jugular vein, the feared necrotizing fasciitis, or rare non-neoplastic pathologies that are primarily found in the lymph nodes or as pseudotumors, however, are more "exotic" findings of the head and neck and will be discussed in the following chapters.

3.2.1 Thrombosis of the internal jugular vein

Deep vein thromboses occur with an incidence of 1:1,000 people per year, but only 4-10% of these events involve the upper extremities. While the subclavian vein is affected relatively frequently (about 62 %), thromboses of the internal jugular vein (comparable to the axillary vein) are found in only 45% of the cases [43]. Thrombosis of the internal jugular vein has to be considered as rare disease with an incidence of 0.018–0.0045% per year.

As risk factors for the development of internal jugular vein thrombosis, the insertion of a central venous catheter or pacemaker must be mentioned, but also a tumor-related hypercoagulation of the blood and inhaled tobacco smoke. Besides, also genetic reasons such as a factor-V-Leiden mutation or medication (e. q., high-dose corticosteroids) may promote the development of thrombi [187]. In most cases, the disease remains asymptomatic or is associated with unspecific symptoms such as swelling or pain in the neck [118, 167]. Typical complications are the post-thrombotic syndrome, chronic venous insufficiency, and thrombophlebitis. Pulmonary embolism or the superior vena cava syndrome only rarely occur. Compression ultrasound together with Doppler-/ color-coded duplex sonography is the diagnostic measure of choice due to a sensitivity of 97 % and a specificity of 96 % [49]. Regarding the initial treatment of jugular vein thrombosis, unfractionated or low-molecular heparin is applied, but also new oral anticoagulants (NOAC) such as rivaroxaban or apixaban are applied. The preservation therapy is continued with vitamin K antagonists or NOAC at least until the origin is eliminated (see current AWMF guideline on venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism) [83, 97].

A very rare origin for thrombosis of the internal jugular vein may be septicemia developing from an inflammation of the pharyngeal space which was named after the first description of André-Alfred Lemierre as Lemierre syndrome. The most frequent pathogens detected are fusobacterium necrophorum and other fusobacteria, less frequently streptococci, staphylococci, enterococci, and Klebsiella pneumoniae [113]. Clinically distinct symptoms of Lemierre syndrome do not exist. Metastatic abscesses in the joints, the lung, and the brain are feared complications. The mortality of Lemierre syndrome amounts to 2-10% [33]. The treatment comprises targeted antibiotic and antithrombotic therapy as well as surgery of infection foci [113].

Further information

For medical staff: guideline of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org) For patients: Deutsche Gefäßliga (http://deutsche-gefaessliga.de)

3.2.2 Necrotizing fasciitis

Necrotizing fasciitis is a life-threatening bacterial infection that may affect all fascia of the body and that is characterized by a fulminant distribution of colliquative necrosis in the area of those structures [64]. In most cases, it is caused by mixed infection due to minor trauma of different anaerobic and aerobic pathogens (type 1), however, also an infection with group A β -hemolytic streptococci alone, sometimes in combination with *staphylococcus aureus* or *staphylococcus epidermidis*, is possible as origin of the disease (type II; [69]). With an incidence of 0.2–400 per 100 000 people per year, it is a rare disease, while only 1–10% occur primarily in the head and neck and have an odontogenic focus [74].

An indicator for the presence of necrotizing fasciitis may be extreme local pain which is caused by ischemia in the area of the fascia. Only with advanced stages of the disease, skin alterations become apparent that range from edematous and erythematous changes up to livid, map-like skin necrosis. Crepitus indicates the presence of mixed infection. CT scans show abscesses and air accumulation. Diagnostically, necrotizing fasciitis has to be differentiated from gas gangrene (caused by clostridium perfringens and subtypes) and the streptococcus-associated toxic shock syndrome. In this context, the so-called "laboratory risk indicator for necrotizing fasciitis" (LRINEC) score (> Table 2; [211]) was developed. Its significance, however, is controversially discussed [89]. Risk factors are an age of more than 65 years as well as preexisting conditions such as diabetes mellitus, immune suppression, peripheral arterial closure, and vasculitis. Regarding the clinical course, an early diagnosis as well as immediate therapeutic intervention are crucial.

For the treatment of necrotizing fasciitis, a calculated multi-antibiotic therapy, radical surgical debridement of the affected tissue (which often has to be performed several times in the course of the disease) as well as intensive care of the patient are required. In this way, the lethality rate may be reduced to less than 20% [191], delayed therapy, however, may increase this rate to more than 75% [104]. The benefit of hyperbaric oxygen therapy or intravenous immunoglobulin application is disputed because of missing randomized prospective trials [91].

Further information

For medical staff: [91]

3.2.3 Benign lymph node diseases and pseudotumors

In Rosai-Dorfman disease, children and young adults develop mostly bilateral abundant histiocytosis in the cervical lymph nodes leading to massive painless lymphadenopathy. In addition, affected patients suffer from fever, and in about 40% of the cases also extranodal manifestation is observed which may affect all parts of the body, in particular the central nervous system. The diagnosis is made based on histopathology, its etiology and pathogenesis are still unknown. Generally, Rosai-Dorfman disease heals spontaneously, for palliation of the symptoms, surgical measures and immunosuppressants are applied [25].

Especially in young Asiatic adults, Kimura disease leads to unilateral painless cervical lymphadenopathy which is characterized by lymph node infiltration with eosinophilic granulocytes. In addition, eosinophilia is found in the peripheral blood as well as increased IgE levels. Furthermore, half of the patients develop renal and

Table 2 LRINEC Score.					
Lab parameter	Value	Unit	Score		
CRP	<15	mg/dl	0		
	>15	mg/dl	4		
Leukocytes	<15000	cells/mm ³	0		
	15000-25000	cells/mm ³	1		
	>25000	cells/mm ³	2		
Hemoglobin	>13.5	g/dl	0		
	11.0-13.5	g/dl	1		
	<11.0	g/dl	2		
Natrium	>135	mmol/l	0		
	<135	mmol/l	2		
Creatinine	<1.6	mg/dl	0		
	>1.6	mg/dl	2		
Glucose	<180	mg/dl	0		
	>180	mg/dl	1		

The "Laboratory Risk Indicator For Necrotizing Fasciitis" (LRINEC) is depicted. An overall score of 6 or more indicates the clinical assumption of the presence of necrotizing fasciitis [211].

cutaneous manifestations. The major salivary glands of the head may be affected. Also this disease is diagnosed by means of histopathology. Its origin is unknown. For therapy, surgical excision of the affected lymph nodes, radiotherapy, immunosuppressants, and antihistamines are applied. Most cases heal spontaneously, in 25% of the cases, however, recurrences are observed [161].

Castleman disease describes a very rare benign lympho-proliferative disease which occurs with a prevalence of about 2.4 per 100 000 people in the population and is associated with viral infections, e. g., by human herpes virus 8 (HHV-8). A localized type that affects only a group of lymph nodes and the multicenter type where several lymph node groups are affected and that often concerns HIV patients are distinguished. Beside lymphadenopathy, the patients suffer from unspecific symptoms such as fatigue, fever, and weight loss, the multicenter type may also lead to hepato-splenomegaly and POEMS syndrome. From a pathogenetic point of view, it seems to be relevant that cytokines are abundantly released, especially interleukin 6. The diagnosis is made based on histology. The localized type of Castleman disease is treated by complete surgical removal of the affected lymph nodes which leads to healing in most cases. The multicenter type is treated with medication (e. g., using chemotherapeutics, immune modulators, and antiviral therapeutics). The prognosis is poor, malignant transformation is possible [88, 124].

Inflammatory pseudotumors are benign processes with infiltrative character that consist of lymphocytes, plasma cells, macrophages, fibroblasts as well as eosinophilic and neutrophilic granulocytes. From their macroscopic aspect they are similar to malignant neoplasms. Their etiology is still not clear, autoimmune processes (with IgG4 association), infections (*e. g.*, with mycobacteria, Rhodococcus equi, Klebsiella rhinoscleromatis), foreign bodies, and trauma are discussed as possible causes for this disease. Mostly, those pseudotumors are found in the lung, however, they may develop everywhere in the body and thus also in the head and neck. The treatment of this disease mainly consists of corticosteroids and surgical measures. If corticosteroids and surgery do not lead to improvement, radiotherapy is performed [108].

3.3 Rare neoplastic diseases

Swellings localized in the cervical soft tissues are often due to growth of the cervical lymph nodes. Often bacterial or viral infections are responsible for their etiopathogenesis. Frequently, however, also malignant diseases manifest in this way such as lymph node metastases or lymphomas. Furthermore, the occurrence of atheroma in the neck area (overall prevalence of 20%, 80% of them present in the head and neck), hemangiomas (overall prevalence of 3-5%, 60% of them in the head and neck), and lipomas (overall prevalence of 2%, 15-20% of them in the head and neck) is frequently observed. A rare extreme type of fat accumulation in the head and neck is the familial symmetric lipomatosis (Madelung disease). Its exact prevalence is still unknown [41]. Very rarely, benign tumors may also develop from residues of fetal brown fatty tissue that are called hibernomas and do not recur if they are completely removed [202]. In the last chapter of this article, further rare neoplastic diseases of the neck will be discussed. Neoplasms of the salivary glands will be presented in the article by Claudia Scherl. Regarding neoplasms of the skin, the dermatological literature as well as the current guidelines of the AWMF are referred to (http:// www.awmf.org).

3.3.1 Hamartoma

Hamartomas are benign, mainly congenital neoplasms that consist of an imbalanced composition of local mature tissue and thus they may occur in every part of the body. These pseudotumors are rarely found in the neck with an incidence of 1:10 000 people per year [114]. Regarding the tongue, however, they rank third after hemangiomas and lymphangioms as neoplasms in the childhood [117]. Mesenchymal and epithelial hamartomas can be differentiated. If they are completely resected, generally no recurrences appear [163].

The PTEN hamartoma tumor syndrome summarized several diseases that are characterized by the occurrence of multiple hamartomas caused by an autosomal dominantly inherited mutation in the tumor suppressor gene PTEN via the activation of the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway [78]. The Cowden syndrome (prevalence of 1:200 000 people) is associated with the development of benign and malignant tumor of the thyroid gland, breast and endometrium as well as renal cell carcinomas, colon carcinomas, and melanomas. Affected patients often also have macrocephaly (head size of more than 97th percentile) and skin anomalies [151]. In cases of Bannayan-Riley, Ruvalcaba syndrome, intestinal hamartoma-like polyps, macrocephaly, and hyperpigmentation in the area of the male genital are characteristic [95].

The Proteus/Proteus-like syndrome is characterized by a point mutation of the AKT-1 gene (downstream of PTEN) and an excessive growth of bone, skin, and other tissue [36]. Also autism spec-

trum diseases with macrocephaly show PTEN mutations in 10–20% of the cases. Lhermitte-Duclos syndrome is a variant of Cowden syndrome; in this context, hamartoma-like neoplasms develop in the area of the cerebellum in adulthood. Clinically, the affected patients have ataxia, seizures, and increased brain pressure. The pediatric juvenile polyposis (of the gut) is very rare and also points to mutations in the PTEN gene [150].

Further information

For medical staff: Guideline of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org). For patients: Self-help CoBaLd (http://www.shg-cobald.de).

3.3.2 Teratoma

Teratomas are congenital germ cell tumors containing tissue components from ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm [103]. They occur with an incidence of 1:40 000 people per year, about 5% of them are found in the head and neck area [13]. The vast majority of those neoplasms is diagnosed and treated in newborns and children (about 90%). In adults, they occur only rarely (about 10%; [101]). Teratomas appear mostly as so-called mature cystic (dermoid/dermoid cyst) or solid benign tumors that already have the potential of malignant transformation. In about 5% of the cases, so-called immature malignant teratomas are found.

Teratomas of the neck are often located anterolaterally and may impair already the intrauterine development of the fetus by compressing the digestive tract or by obstructing the airway during birth. So the diagnosis should already be confirmed *in utero* by means of ultrasound and MRI. Immediately after birth, a complete surgical excision of the tumor should be performed, in cases of highly vascularized neoplasms after preoperative vascular embolization [180]. Malignant immature tumors are further treated by chemotherapy. Alpha-fetoprotein (AFP) serves as posttherapeutic follow-up parameter [56, 203]. The influence of immune checkpoint inhibitors on immature teratomas that are considered as "cold, deserted tumors" abandoned by the immune system [24] is currently unknown.

Further information

For medical staff: guideline of the AWMF (http://awmf.org)

3.3.3 Schwannoma

Schwannomas (also known as neurilemoma, benign nerve sheath tumor; malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors are discussed in chapter 3.3.8) are slowly growing, benign tumors of Schwann cells surrounding peripheral nerves. These neoplasms have an incidence of 1-9:100 000 people per year, about 25-45% are found in the head and neck region [31, 39]. The peak prevalence is between the 4th and 6th decade of life. Most schwannomas have their origin in the vestibular part of the vestibulocochlear nerve, more rarely, they develop from the vagus nerve, the trigeminus nerve, the facial nerve, the glossopharyngeal nerve, the accessory nerve, the hypoglossal nerve, or the sympathetic nervous system [107]. While they are mostly observed as solitary and sporadic lesions (90% of the cases), they occur as multiple lesions in cases of neurofibromatosis type 2 (3% of the cases). Multiple occurrence of schwannomas independently from neurofibromatosis and vestibular schwannoma, is found in about 2% of the cases (prevalence of 1:40000) and is called schwannomatosis [98, 177, 208]. In the neck, most frequently vagus schwannomas are found that are generally asymptomatic and may cause sometimes hoarseness and cough. The recurrence rate and malignant transformation potential of schwannomas is still unknown. In the neck, surgical removal of these tumors is the therapy of choice. Hereby, the continuity of the affected nerves should be preserved.

Neurofibromas are also benign neoplasms of peripheral nerves that are characterized by a different histopathological appearance and a lower S100 expression as compared to schwannomas. Spinal nerves are rarely affected, cerebral nerves nearly never. Malignant transformation of these tumors is unusual [62]. Furthermore, also rarely occurring benign granular cell tumors of Schwann cells seem to develop from peripheral nerves that are characterized by an accumulation of secondary lysosomas in the cytoplasm of the tumor cells. In more than 50% of the cases, they affect the upper digestive tract, in particular the larynx. Malignant transformation of these neoplasms is possible [160].

Further information

For medical staff: guideline of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org) For patients: Bundesverband Neurofibromatose e.V. (https://

bv-nf.de); Bundesweite Selbsthilfegruppe für NF2-Betroffene (https://www.nf2.de)

3.3.4 Extracranial meningioma

Meningiomas are tumors that have their origin in the pia-arachnoidal cells of the central nervous system. They have an incidence of about 8–10:100 000 people per year. With a percentage of 30 %, meningiomas are the most frequently occurring brain tumors in adults. According to the WHO classification, they are subdivided into benign (grade I, 85%), atypical, rapidly growing as well as recurrent (grade II, 8–10%), and infiltratively growing anaplastic (grade III, 2–5%) lesions. The peak of occurrence is observed between the 5th and 6th decade of life. In up to 20% of the affected patients, multiple lesions are observed. Ionizing radiation is considered as risk factor. In single cases, meningiomas are inherited, *e. g.*, in the context of neurofibromatosis type 2 [165].

Interestingly, also (primary or secondary) extracranial meningiomas are found in the head and neck in about 2% of the cases, mainly as benign lesions (WHO grade I) [65]. While intracranial meningiomas are more frequently diagnosed in females, extracranial meningiomas are more often found in males [34]. Most of them are located in the skull base. In the parapharyngeal space, they occur only rarely, in the literature only one case of a primary meningioma was reported in the palatal tonsil [140]. The cellular origin of these neoplasms is assumed to be ectopic arachnoidal cells. The diagnosis of meningioma can often be made by means of CT and MR imaging. If possible, intra- and extracranial meningiomas are preferably treated by surgery. In particular meningiomas of higher grades well respond to radiotherapy which is applied in cases of inoperability or as adjuvant therapy. In the future, also immune checkpoint inhibitors might play an important role in the treatment of aggressive meningiomas [67, 123, 156].

Further information

For medical staff: guideline of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org); NIH National Cancer Institute (https://www.cancer.gov/publications/pdq/information-summaries)

For patients: Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft (http://www.krebsgesellschaft.de); Deutsche Kinderkrebsstiftung (http://www.kinderkrebsstiftung.de); Deutsche Hirntumorhilfe e.V. (http://www.hirntumorhilfe.de); Bundesverband Neurofibromatose e.V. (https:// bv-nf.de); Bundesweite Selbsthilfegruppe für NF2-Betroffene (https://www.nf2.de)

3.3.5 Ectopic chordoma

Chordomas are rare (prevalence of less than 1:1000000 people), infiltratively growing tumors that develop from residues of the chorda dorsalis (notochord) in the area of the spine and form metastases in about 10–20% of the cases. Most frequently, they are found in the coccyx and the clivus [186], single cases of ectopic chordomas (*e. g.*, in the pharynx) have been described in the literature [122]. The therapy of choice comprises the complete surgical removal of the tumors, followed by adjuvant radiotherapy. The 5-year survival rate currently amounts to 50%. In the future, immunotherapeutic [60] and other targeted treatment approaches [185] might significantly improve the prognosis of these tumors.

3.3.6 Neuroblastoma

Neuroblastomas are malignant neuroectodermal neoplasms of the sympathetic nervous system being the most frequently occurring solid neoplasm in children. Overall, neurobalstomas have an incidence of 1:100 000 people per year, the neck area is affected only in about 5% of the cases. 90% are diagnosed within the first 5 years of life, boys are more frequently affected than girls [125]. When diagnosed, 50% of the diseased patients already bear hematogenic metastases in the bone marrow, bones, liver, brain, or skin. Most neuroblastomas develop spontaneously, in 1-2% of the cases they are inherited. Hereby, an association with Hirschsprung's disease, Undine syndrome, Costello syndrome (CDKN1C mutations), Noonan syndrome, neurofibromatosis type 1, Li-Fraumeni syndrome (TP53-R337H mutations), ROHHAD syndrome, Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome (CDKN1C mutations), Sotos and Weaver syndrome is observed. The "International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (INRG)" staging system includes radiologic extent and metastatic status. The INRG classification further takes into account the patients' age, histopathological properties, MYCN status, chromosome 11g aberration status, degree of ploidy, and the risk profile before therapy [37]. The clinical appearance of the patients depends on the location of the primary tumor, often the patients are asymptomatic or suffer from uncharacteristic symptoms. Most neuroblastomas produce catecholamine which may lead to maternal tachycardia, hypertonia, and emesis already before birth. The concentration of vanillylmandelic acid or homovanillic acid in the urine is increased in more than 90% of the patients. For treatment of neuroblastomas, generally multimodal therapy concepts are applied including surgery, radiotherapy, and polychemotherapy. First positive case reports about immunotherapeutic approaches have been published recently [55]. If the disease is diagnosed within the

first year of life the 5-year survival rate amounts to 86–95%, in older children it decreases to 24–68% [182].

Further information

For medical staff: guideline of the AWMF (http://www.awmf.org); International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (http://www.inrgdb.org); NIH National Cancer Institute (https://www.cancer.gov/publications/pdq/information-summaries).

For patients: Deutsche Krebsgesellschaft (http://www.krebsgesellschaft.de); Deutsche Kinderkrebsgesellschaft (http://www.kinderkrebsstiftung.de); Fördergesellschaft Kinderkrebs-Neuroblastom-Forschung e.V. (http://www.neuroblastoma.de); Deutsche Hirntumorhilfe e.V. (http://www.hirntumorhilfe.de).

3.3.7 Extra-adrenal paragangliomas

Extra-adrenal paragangliomas (also formerly known as glomus tumors) are highly vascularized neoplasms that originate from chromaffine cells of the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system. They have an incidence of less than 1:100 000 people per year [19]. Extra-adrenal paragangliomas mostly show a benign biological behavior, however, the probability of malignant transformation is estimated to 2–13% (malignant paragangliomas). In this context, lymphogenic metastasis occurs [22], the 5-year survival rate amounts to 40–77% [143]. Most paragangliomas develop sporadically. In 30-40% of the cases, however, familial occurrence is observed, often in the context of autosomal-dominantly inherited familial pheochromocytoma paraganglioma syndrome which is based on different mutations of the mitochondrial succinate dehydrogenase (SDH). Here, three subtypes (PGL1, PGL3, and PGL4) are distinguished that cannot be clearly differentiated clinically and have to be diagnosed genetically. In addition, they often occur in patients with von-Hippel-Lindau syndrome (VHL syndrome), neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1), or multiple endocrine neoplasm type II (MEN-II). Females seem to be preferably affected by paragangliomas, the mean age of disease onset is in the middle age of life. Typical anatomical locations are the carotid bifurcation (60% of the cases), the jugular foramen, the middle ear (originating from the glossopharyngeal nerve), or the vagus nerve in its course (5% of the cases). Glomus caroticum tumors are mostly symptom-free and can be moved in lateral (not vertical!) direction, which is called Fontaine sign [136]. If a glomus caroticum tumor compresses the vagus nerve, symptoms similar to glomus vagale tumors may occur such as swallowing disorder, hoarseness, or Horner's syndrome. While glomus jugulare tumors show a relatively aggressive growth behavior in the petrous bone, glomus tympanicum tumors are rather slowly growing. Clinically, these two paragangliomas may be accompanied by pulsatile tinnitus or unilateral hearing loss. For diagnosis, primarily ultrasound, MRI- and 18F-Dopa-PET are applied. For differentiation of glomus jugulare and glomus tympanicum tumors, CT scans are used. The complete surgical removal after vascular embolization is the current gold standard for the treatment of paragangliomas [173]. Non-resectable tumors undergo radiotherapy [120, 190]; in the metastatic situation, chemotherapy [90, 137] or targeted therapeutics such as the tyrosine kinase inhibitor of Sunitinib are employed [102].

Further information

For medical staff: NIH National Cancer Institute (https://www.cancer.gov/publications/pdq/information-summaries)

3.3.8 Soft tissue sarcoma

Sarcomas are rare malignant tumors of the mesenchymal tissue that occur with an incidence of 1.8-5:100 000 people per year and make up about 1% of all head and neck malignancies [146, 209]. 80-90% of the soft tissue sarcomas affect adults, 10-20% involve children and adolescents [116]. Risk factors of the development of soft tissue sarcomas include radiotherapy, chronic lymphedema (lymphangiosarcoma), exposition to chemical substances such as thorium dioxide, vinyl chloride, and arsenic (hepatic angiosarcoma) as well as infections with HIV and HH8 viruses (Kaposi sarcoma). Higher prevalence of soft tissue sarcomas is observed among others in patients with Gardner syndrome (APC mutation), Li-Fraumeni syndrome (TP53 mutation), Gorlin syndrome (PTC mutation), tuberous sclerosis/Bournville disease (TSC1 or TSC2 mutation), neurofibromatosis type 1/von Recklinghausen disease (NF1 mutation), and Werner syndrome/adult progeria (WRN mutation). The WHO classification of 2020 differentiates more than 100 sarcoma entities (www.who.int or www.iarc.fr).

The most frequently occurring soft tissue sarcomas of the head and neck are fibrosarcomas, leiomyosarcomas, neurofibromatous sarcomas such as malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors, synovial cell sarcomas, liposarcomas, angiosarcomas, and rhabdomyosarcomas [5]. Typically, soft tissue sarcomas of the head and neck present as painless swelling, they develop predominantly hematogenic metastases. After biopsy, the histopathological assessment is typically performed including national reference centers. For staging, MRI and CT scan are performed, probably also PET/CT. Therapeutically, sarcomas primarily undergo complete surgical resection of the lesion with sufficient safety margins. However, in most cases multimodal individual therapy concepts are employed that are adjusted to the respective sarcoma entity. They comprise chemo- and radiotherapeutic treatment concepts, if needed in combination with regional hyperthermia [96, 105]. In order to further improve the treatment quality, courses of the sarcoma patients are documented in registries such as the Interdisziplinäres Deutsches Sarkomregister (GISAR). Since up to now only single sarcoma entities revealed a response to treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors, for example combinations with oncolytic viruses or vaccines or innovative immunotherapeutic approaches may represent more effective treatment strategies for sarcomas with less adverse effects. The mean 5-year survival rate amounts to 75%, however, it is very different for the single sarcoma entities [5]. Furthermore, well differentiated sarcomas have a better prognosis than poorly differentiated neoplasms [57, 58].

Fibrosarcomas develop from (myo)fibroblasts and represent 1-3% of all sarcomas. Fibrosarcomas developing in childhood have a more favorable prognosis than those occurring later in life [131, 200]. With about 100 published cases of infantile fibrosarcomas up to now, of which 40\% have been diagnosed at birth, these tumors may be considered as very rare [75].

Leiomyosarcomas develop from smooth muscle cells. Cutaneous tumors originating from the arrector pili muscles of the hair follicles and subcutaneous neoplasms that develop from the smooth vascular muscles are differentiated. Cutaneous leimyosarcomas more rarely occur as subcutaneous leiomyosarcomas and seem to be less aggressive (5-year survival rate of 66.9 vs. 52.1%; [168]).

Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (MPNST; terms that are today no longer used are malignant schwannoma, neurogenic sarcoma, neurofibrosarcoma) are malignant neoplasms of peripheral nerves appearing with an incidence of 1:100 000 people and representing 5 % of all soft tissue sarcomas. Head and neck are affected in 10–20% of the cases. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors may develop sporadically or from neurofibromas, *e. g.*, in the context of neurofibromatosis type 1 (von Recklinghausen disease; >50% of the cases [6]). The prognosis of these head and neck tumors is very unfavorable with a 5-year survival rate of about 15–20% [134].

Synovial cell sarcomas may appear in most different locations of the head and neck, most frequently they are located in the hypopharynx [87, 155]. It is assumed that these malignant neoplasms develop from undifferentiated or pluripotent mesenchymal stem cells, however, their exact origin is still unknown. 90–95 % of these malignant tumors have a t(x;18) (p11.2-q11.2) chromosome translocation [45]. The incidence is estimated to 0.65 per 100 000 people per year. About 5–10% of all sarcomas are synovial cell carcinomas. Most cases are observed between the 3rd and 5th decade of life, one third of the cases are seen before the 20th year of life.

Liposarcomas are rare malignant tumors of the fatty tissue occurring with an incidence of 1:100000 people per year. They are subdivided into 4 subtypes: well differentiated liposarcomas (40-45%), myxoid/round cell liposarcomas (30-35%), pleomorphic liposarcomas, and poorly differentiated liposarcomas (10%; [146]). They mainly develop in males of higher age (mean: 7th decade), the 5-year survival rate amounts to about 67 % [206]. For histopathological differentiation between lipomas and liposarcomas, the MDM2 or CDK4 amplification is determined [4]. Between 3 and 8% of the liposarcomas occur in the head and neck area. Well differentiated liposarcomas generally do not form metastases. Poorly differentiated liposarcomas, however, have a higher recurrence and metastatic rate than other subtypes of liposarcomas and are extremely rarely found in the head and neck region [68, 130]. Up to now, less than 50 cases of head and neck liposarcomas have been reported in the literature, 10 of them were found in the oral cavity, 3 in the neck area, and 3 in the pharyngeal space [145].

Angiosarcomas have a very aggressive biological behavior and are located mostly in UV light exposed area of the skin (about two third of the cases) and thus often in the head and neck. These tumors are more frequently seen in older males. The 5-year survival rate amounts to 30–40%. Furthermore, radiotherapy, chronic lymphedema, and carcinogens such as vinyl chlorid, thorium dioxide, or arsenic are considered as risk factors for the development of angiosarcomas. These sarcomas also occur in the context of genetic disease such as neurofibromatosis, retinoblastoma, Ollier disease, Maffuci disease, *pigmentosum*, and Klippel-Trénaunay syndrome [29].

Rhabdomyosarcomas are malignant neoplasms of the striated muscles showing an incidence of 1:170,000 people per year. On the average, the diagnosis is made at the age of 5 years. These ma-

lignant tumors most frequently appear in the head and neck (35-40%) [46]. A chromosome translocation is considered as pathogenetically relevant leading to the fusion of two genes coding for transcription factors. Patients with neurofibromatosis type 1, retinoblastoma, or Li-Fraumeni syndrome have an increased risk for developing such tumors [149]. Histopathologically, an embryonic, alveolar, pleomorphic, and spindle cell like/sclerosing type are differentiated. While the embryonic rhabdomyosarcoma mainly affects children and has a favorable prognosis, the aggressive alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma is predominantly found in adolescents [127]. The mean 5-year survival rate amounts to 40–54% [147]. In contrast, rhabdoymomas are benign tumors of the striated muscles that primarly manifest in the cardiac area. Rarely, they also occur extracardially. Up to now, less than 200 cases of extracardiac rhabdomyomas have been described in the literature. They are divided into fetal (mainly located in the head and neck), adult (predominantly found in the head and neck of males, peak in the 5th decade of life), and genital (mainly found in the female vagina) neoplasms [110, 111, 158]. If they are completely removed, no recurrences are observed [59].

Kaposi sarcoma is a malignant vascular neoplasm caused by the human herpes virus type 8 in skin, mucosa, and inner organs and occurs especially in immunocompromised individuals [7]. Classic (predominantly involving the legs of older males from the Mediterranean area and Eastern Europe), endemic (children and young adults from the sub-Sahara region), HIV-associated, and iatrogenic subtypes (by drug-related immunosuppression, *e. g.*, after organ transplantation) are differentiated, while only the classic Kaposi sarcoma shows a poorly aggressive biological behavior. Clinically, red-brownish/purple, slightly convex plaques and nodules are found that may ulcer in the inner organs and cause severe bleeding. Therapy consists of surgical measures as well as radio-chemotherapy. In cases of HIV-associated and iatrogenic types, additionally (if possible) reconstitution of the immune competence should be achieved [212].

Further information

For medical staff: guideline of the AWMF (http://awmf.org); NIH National Cancer Institute (https://www.cancer.gov/publications/ pdq/information-summaries)

For patients: Deutsche Sarkom-Stiftung (http://www.sarkome. de); Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum (http://www.krebsinformationsdienst.de)

4. Conclusion and Outlook

Even today, rare diseases are associated with many tortuous paths until a diagnosis can be made. Further, there is still no curative treatment approach for many of these diseases. The establishment of national and international databases (registries) on orphan diseases as well as their increasing intertwining and public accessibility have enlarged the awareness and knowledge about these rare pathologies for medical staff and in the society. Moreover, measures such as the centralization of pathological assessments by reference centers, case discussions in interdisciplinary meetings (*e. g.,* sarcoma board) as well as the treatment of patients in the context of national and international (registry) trials led to an improved quality of the diagnostics and therapy of rare diseases (e. g., Deutsches Register Morbus Adamantiades-Behcet, Internationales Register für Phäochromozytome und Paragangliome). In addition, the active inclusion of patients in information, contribution, and decisional processes in the context of their diseases (patient empowerment) was fostered by establishing self-help groups and patient networks. The focus on "orphan/rare diseases" of the Annual Meeting of the German Society of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology, Head & Neck Surgery in 2021 will further support this important development. In this sense, the present article will contribute to one aspect of rare anatomical anomalies and malformations as well as non-neoplastic and neoplastic disease of the lip, oral cavity, pharynx, and cervical soft tissues.

Only recently, the technical progress in the field of biomedicine allows targeted decoding of genetic origins of diseases: by means of sequencing technologies such as whole genome sequencing and whole exome sequencing (= next generation sequencing) as well as high throughput DNA microarrays, already numerous gene mutations could be discovered that might lead to the development of rare diseases [35]. Hereby, the application of artificial intelligence allows processing the large volume of the collected data in a more and more efficient way [178]. In this context, it must be mentioned that genetic testing – especially if performed in the context of preimplantation or prenatal diagnostics – rises ethical questions. Thus, the results of such analyses might lead to biological selection that may lead to social discrimination of people with chronic diseases/ impairment.

However, innovative gene editing tools (such as CRISPR-Cas9 or even more precise developments of this method) and proteome analysis (e. q., mass spectrometry, protein microarrays) already allow validating potential target genes that have been identified in the context of gene sequencing in preclinical investigations with regard to their pathogenetic relevance. To this end, innovative treatment approaches with already available drugs have been established for some diseases [35]. In oncology, such procedures are already part of the treatment of cancer patients ("molecular tumor boards"). Furthermore, it is now possible for the first time to heal pathogentically relevant gene defects by means of these new gene editing techniques in diseased people: In clinical trials, pathological cells are taken from patients that are treated accordingly and then are re-transferred into the body of the patients as "cured" cells. In addition, the therapeutic potential of gene editing tools bound to vehicles (such as nanoparticles or viral vectors) after local or systemic application to the patient is currently under investigation [35]. Hence, it should be possible in the near future to develop individual treatment strategies also for rare, hitherto incurable diseases of the head and neck.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Abdel-Aziz M, Azab N, El-Badrawy A. Cervical osteophytosis and spine posture: contribution to swallow disorders and symptoms. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2018; 26: 375–381
- [2] Acierno SP, Waldhausen JH. Congenital cervical cysts, sinuses and fistulae. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2007; 40: 161–176. vii–viii
- [3] Al-Hassani M, Carey B, Sanderson J, Hullah E, Escudier M. Ascher's syndrome: a rare cause of lip swelling. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2020; e1–e3
- [4] Aleixo PB, Hartmann AA, Menezes IC, Meurer RT, Oliveira AM. Can MDM2 and CDK4 make the diagnosis of well differentiated/ dedifferentiated liposarcoma? An immunohistochemical study on 129 soft tissue tumours. J Clin Pathol 2009; 62: 1127–1135
- [5] Andersen S, Mann H, Krarup-Hansen A, Lajer CB, Gronhoj C. Patient and Tumour Characteristics of Adult Head and Neck Soft Tissue Sarcomas: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sarcoma 2019; 2019: 9725637
- [6] Anghileri M, Miceli R, Fiore M, Mariani L, Ferrari A, Mussi C, Lozza L, Collini P, Olmi P, Casali PG, Pilotti S, Gronchi A. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors: prognostic factors and survival in a series of patients treated at a single institution. Cancer 2006; 107: 1065–1074
- [7] Antman K, Chang Y. Kaposi's sarcoma. N Engl J Med 2000; 342: 1027–1038
- [8] Ariyawardana A. Congenital double upper lip: review of literature and report of a case. J Investig Clin Dent 2011; 2: 212–215
- [9] Azizlerli G, Kose AA, Sarica R, Gul A, Tutkun IT, Kulac M, Tunc R, Urgancioglu M, Disci R. Prevalence of Behcet's disease in Istanbul, Turkey. Int J Dermatol 2003; 42: 803–806
- [10] Bagrodia N, Defnet AM, Kandel JJ. Management of lymphatic malformations in children. Curr Opin Pediatr 2015; 27: 356–363
- [11] Bahakim A, Francois M, Van Den Abbeele T. Congenital Midline Cervical Cleft and W-Plasty: Our Experience. Int J Otolaryngol 2018; 2018: 5081540
- [12] Bajaj Y, Dunaway D, Hartley BE. Surgical approach for congenital midline cervical cleft. J Laryngol Otol 2004; 118: 566–569
- [13] Barksdale EM Jr., Obokhare I. Teratomas in infants and children. Curr Opin Pediatr 2009; 21: 344–349
- [14] Bas M. The Angiotensin-Converting-Enzyme-Induced Angioedema. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2017; 37: 183–200
- [15] Bassett AS, Chow EW, Husted J, Hodgkinson KA, Oechslin E, Harris L, Silversides C. Premature death in adults with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. J Med Genet 2009; 46: 324–330
- [16] Bassett AS, Mcdonald-Mcginn DM, Devriendt K, Digilio MC, Goldenberg P, Habel A, Marino B, Oskarsdottir S, Philip N, Sullivan K, Swillen A, Vorstman J. International 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome C. Practical guidelines for managing patients with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. J Pediatr 2011; 159: 332–339 e331
- [17] Bastuji-Garin S, Rzany B, Stern RS, Shear NH, Naldi L, Roujeau JC. Clinical classification of cases of toxic epidermal necrolysis, Stevens-Johnson syndrome, and erythema multiforme. Arch Dermatol 1993; 129: 92–96
- [18] Baysungur SV, Okur E, Halezeroglu S, Atasalihi A. Papillary carcinoma arising on cervico-mediastinal thyroglossal ductal cyst resected via transcervical and partial upper sternotomy incision. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2002; 22: 842–844
- [19] Berends AMA, Buitenwerf E, De Krijger RR, Veeger N, Van Der Horst-Schrivers ANA, Links TP, Kerstens MN. Incidence of pheochromocytoma and sympathetic paraganglioma in the Netherlands: A nationwide study and systematic review. Eur J Intern Med 2018; 51: 68–73

- [20] Bergenholtz A, Hofer PA, Ohman J. Oral, pharyngeal and laryngeal manifestations in Urbach-Wiethe disease. Ann Clin Res 1977; 9: 1–7
- [21] Blasco-Morente G, Sanchez-Carpintero I. Isolated Anterior Cervical Hypertrichosis. Actas Dermosifiliogr 2017; 108: 672
- [22] Boedeker CC, Neumann HP, Maier W, Bausch B, Schipper J, Ridder GJ. Malignant head and neck paragangliomas in SDHB mutation carriers. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2007; 137: 126–129
- [23] Bogershausen N, Wollnik B. Unmasking Kabuki syndrome. Clin Genet 2013; 83: 201–211
- [24] Boldrini R, De Pasquale MD, Melaiu O, Chierici M, Jurman G, Benedetti MC, Salfi NC, Castellano A, Collini P, Furlanello C, Pistoia V, Cifaldi L, Terenziani M, Fruci D. Tumor-infiltrating T cells and PD-L1 expression in childhood malignant extracranial germ-cell tumors. Oncoimmunology 2019; 8: e1542245
- [25] Bruce-Brand C, Schneider JW, Schubert P. Rosai-Dorfman disease: an overview. J Clin Pathol. 2020
- [26] Bruzgielewicz A, Rzepakowska A, Osuch-Wojcikewicz E, Niemczyk K, Chmielewski R. Tuberculosis of the head and neck – epidemiological and clinical presentation. Arch Med Sci 2014; 10: 1160–1166
- [27] Burg ML, Chai Y, Yao CA, Magee W 3rd, Figueiredo JC. Epidemiology, Etiology, and Treatment of Isolated Cleft Palate. Front Physiol 2016; 7:67
- [28] Calamia KT, Wilson FC, Icen M, Crowson CS, Gabriel SE, Kremers HM. Epidemiology and clinical characteristics of Behcet's disease in the US: a population-based study. Arthritis Rheum 2009; 61: 600–604
- [29] Cao J, Wang J, He C, Fang M. Angiosarcoma: a review of diagnosis and current treatment. Am J Cancer Res 2019; 9: 2303–2313
- [30] Celikoyar M, Aktan E, Dogusoy G. Congenital midline cervical cleft: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2019; 13: 176
- [31] Chang SC, Schi YM. Neurilemmoma of the vagus nerve. A case report and brief literature review. Laryngoscope 1984; 94: 946–949
- [32] Chow TL, Choi CY, Hui JY. Thyroglossal duct cysts in adults treated by ethanol sclerotherapy: a pilot study of a nonsurgical technique. Laryngoscope 2012; 122: 1262–1264
- [33] Chuncharunee A, Khawcharoenporn T. Lemierre's Syndrome Caused by Klebsiella pneumoniae in a Diabetic Patient: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. Hawaii J Med Public Health 2015; 74: 260–266
- [34] Claus EB, Bondy ML, Schildkraut JM, Wiemels JL, Wrensch M, Black PM. Epidemiology of intracranial meningioma. Neurosurgery 2005; 57: 1088–1095. discussion 1088-1095
- [35] Claussnitzer M, Cho JH, Collins R, Cox NJ, Dermitzakis ET, Hurles ME, Kathiresan S, Kenny EE, Lindgren CM, Macarthur DG, North KN, Plon SE, Rehm HL, Risch N, Rotimi CN, Shendure J, Soranzo N, Mccarthy MI. A brief history of human disease genetics. Nature 2020; 577: 179–189
- [36] Cohen MM Jr.. Proteus syndrome review: molecular, clinical, and pathologic features. Clin Genet 2014; 85: 111–119
- [37] Cohn SL, Pearson AD, London WB, Monclair T, Ambros PF, Brodeur GM, Faldum A, Hero B, Iehara T, Machin D, Mosseri V, Simon T, Garaventa A, Castel V, Matthay KK, Force IT.The International Neuroblastoma Risk Group (INRG) classification system: an INRG Task Force report. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27: 289–297
- [38] Colbert SD, Seager L, Haider F, Evans BT, Anand R, Brennan PA. Lymphatic malformations of the head and neck-current concepts in management. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2013; 51: 98–102
- [39] Colreavy MP, Lacy PD, Hughes J, Bouchier-Hayes D, Brennan P, O'dwyer AJ, Donnelly MJ, Gaffney R, Maguire A, O'dwyer TP, Timon CV, Walsh MA. Head and neck schwannomas – a 10 year review. J Laryngol Otol 2000; 114: 119–124
- [40] Constantinidis J, Hamadi I, Becker KW, Iro H. Isolated congenital lower lip fistulas. Laryngorhinootologie 2000; 79: 96–99

- [41] Constantinidis J, Steinhart H, Zenk J, Bohlender J, Iro H. Surgical therapy of Madelung's disease in the head and neck area. HNO 2003; 51: 216–220
- [42] Corona-Rivera JR, Gonzalez-Abarca S, Hernandez-Rocha J, Garcia-Cruz D, Corona-Rivera A. Mental retardation in a boy with anterior cervical hypertrichosis. Am J Med Genet A 2005; 135: 69–71
- [43] Cote LP, Greenberg S, Caprini JA, Tafur A, Choi C, Munoz FJ, Skride A, Valero B, Porras JA, Ciammaichella M, Hernandez-Blasco LM, Monreal M, Investigators R. Comparisons Between Upper and Lower Extremity Deep Vein Thrombosis: A Review of the RIETE Registry. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost 2017; 23: 748–754
- [44] Critchlow WA, Chang D. Cheilitis granulomatosa: a review. Head Neck Pathol 2014; 8: 209–213
- [45] De Almeida-Lawall M, Mosqueda-Taylor A, Bologna-Molina RE, Dominguez-Malagon HR, Cano-Valdez AM, Luna-Ortiz K, Da Cunha IW. Synovial sarcoma of the tongue: case report and review of the literature. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009; 67: 914–920
- [46] De La Monte SM, Hutchins GM, Moore GW. Metastatic behavior of rhabdomyosarcoma. Pathol Res Pract 1986; 181: 148–152
- [47] De Lima RL, Hoper SA, Ghassibe M, Cooper ME, Rorick NK, Kondo S, Katz L, Marazita ML, Compton J, Bale S, Hehr U, Dixon MJ, Daack- Hirsch S, Boute O, Bayet B, Revencu N, Verellen-Dumoulin C, Vikkula M, Richieri-Costa A, Moretti-Ferreira D, Murray JC, Schutte BC. Prevalence and nonrandom distribution of exonic mutations in interferon regulatory factor 6 in 307 families with Van der Woude syndrome and 37 families with popliteal pterygium syndrome. Genet Med 2009; 11: 241–247
- [48] De Tristan J, Zenk J, Kunzel J, Psychogios G, Iro H. Thyroglossal duct cysts: 20 years' experience (1992–2011). Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2015; 272: 2513–2519
- [49] Di Nisio M, Van Sluis GL, Bossuyt PM, Buller HR, Porreca E, Rutjes AW. Accuracy of diagnostic tests for clinically suspected upper extremity deep vein thrombosis: a systematic review. J Thromb Haemost 2010; 8: 684–692
- [50] Dlugaiczyk J, Harrer T, Zwerina J, Traxdorf M, Schwarz S, Splettstoesser W, Geissdorfer W, Schoerner C. Oropharyngeal tularemia – a differential diagnosis of tonsillopharyngitis and cervical lymphadenitis. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2010; 122: 110–114
- [51] Do TT. Congenital muscular torticollis: current concepts and review of treatment. Curr Opin Pediatr 2006; 18: 26–29
- [52] Doege TC, Thuline HC, Priest JH, Norby DE, Bryant JS. Studies of a Family with the Oral-Facial-Digital Syndrome. N Engl J Med 1964; 271: 1073–1078
- [53] Du Q, De La Morena MT, Van Oers NSC. The Genetics and Epigenetics of 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. Front Genet 2019; 10: 1365
- [54] Durst F, Staudenmaier R, Pilge H, Lauen J, Prodinger P, Holzapfel K, Pickhard A. Grisel's syndrome after otoplasty. HNO 2012; 60: 135–140
- [55] Ehlert K, Hansjuergens I, Zinke A, Otto S, Siebert N, Henze G, Lode H. Nivolumab and dinutuximab beta in two patients with refractory neuroblastoma. J Immunother Cancer 2020; 8
- [56] El-Sayed Y. Teratoma of the head and neck. J Laryngol Otol 1992; 106: 836–838
- [57] Eppsteiner RW, Deyoung BR, Milhem MM, Pagedar NA. Leiomyosarcoma of the head and neck: a population-based analysis. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2011; 137: 921–924
- [58] Farhood AI, Hajdu SI, Shiu MH, Strong EW. Soft tissue sarcomas of the head and neck in adults. Am J Surg 1990; 160: 365–369
- [59] Favia G, Lo Muzio L, Serpico R, Maiorano E. Rhabdomyoma of the head and neck: clinicopathologic features of two cases. Head Neck 2003; 25: 700–704
- [60] Feng Y, Shen J, Gao Y, Liao Y, Cote G, Choy E, Chebib I, Mankin H, Hornicek F, Duan Z. Expression of programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1) and prevalence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in chordoma. Oncotarget 2015; 6: 11139–11149

- [61] Fernandez-Crehuet P, Ruiz-Villaverde R. Anterior cervical hypertrichosis. An Pediatr (Barc) 2014; 81: 128–129
- [62] Ferner RE, O'doherty MJ. Neurofibroma and schwannoma. Curr Opin Neurol 2002; 15: 679–684
- [63] Ferrante MI, Giorgio G, Feather SA, Bulfone A, Wright V, Ghiani M, Selicorni A, Gammaro L, Scolari F, Woolf AS, Sylvie O, Bernard L, Malcolm S, Winter R, Ballabio A, Franco B. Identification of the gene for oral-facial-digital type I syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 2001; 68: 569–576
- [64] Fisher JR, Conway MJ, Takeshita RT, Sandoval MR. Necrotizing fasciitis. Importance of roentgenografic studies for soft-tissue gas. JAMA 1979; 241: 803–806
- [65] Friedman CD, Costantino PD, Teitelbaum B, Berktold RE, Sisson GA Sr.. Primary extracranial meningiomas of the head and neck. Laryngoscope 1990; 100: 41–48
- [66] Gattorno M, Hofer M, Federici S, Vanoni F, Bovis F, Aksentijevich I, Anton J, Arostegui JI, Barron K, Ben-Cherit E, Brogan PA, Cantarini L, Ceccherini I, De Benedetti F, Dedeoglu F, Demirkaya E, Frenkel J, Goldbach-Mansky R, Gul A, Hentgen V, Hoffman H, Kallinich T, Kone-Paut I, Kuemmerle-Deschner J, Lachmann HJ, Laxer RM, Livneh A, Obici L, Ozen S, Rowczenio D, Russo R, Shinar Y, Simon A, Toplak N, Touitou I, Uziel Y, Van Gijn M, Foell D, Garassino C, Kastner D, Martini A, Sormani MP, Ruperto N, Eurofever R. The Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials O. Classification criteria for autoinflammatory recurrent fevers. Ann Rheum Dis 2019; 78: 1025–1032
- [67] Gelerstein E, Berger A, Jonas-Kimchi T, Strauss I, Kanner AA, Blumenthal DT, Gottfried M, Margalit N, Ram Z, Shahar T. Regression of intracranial meningioma following treatment with nivolumab: Case report and review of the literature. J Clin Neurosci 2017; 37: 51–53
- [68] Gerry D, Fox NF, Spruill LS, Lentsch EJ. Liposarcoma of the head and neck: analysis of 318 cases with comparison to non-head and neck sites. Head Neck 2014; 36: 393–400
- [69] Giuliano A, Lewis F Jr., Hadley K, Blaisdell FW. Bacteriology of necrotizing fasciitis. Am J Surg 1977; 134: 52–57
- [70] Gorlin RJ, Psaume J. Orodigitofacial dysostosis a new syndrome. A study of 22 cases. J Pediatr 1962; 61: 520–530
- [71] Greene AK. Vascular anomalies: current overview of the field. Clin Plast Surg 2011; 38: 1–5
- [72] Greene AK, Perlyn CA, Alomari AI. Management of lymphatic malformations. Clin Plast Surg 2011; 38: 75–82
- [73] Grunwald P, Mockenhaupt M, Panzer R, Emmert S. Erythema multiforme, Stevens-Johnson syndrome/toxic epidermal necrolysis diagnosis and treatment. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2020; 18: 547–553
- [74] Gunaratne DA, Tseros EA, Hasan Z, Kudpaje AS, Suruliraj A, Smith MC, Riffat F, Palme CE. Cervical necrotizing fasciitis: Systematic review and analysis of 1235 reported cases from the literature. Head Neck 2018; 40: 2094–2102
- [75] Gupta A, Sharma S, Mathur S, Yadav DK, Gupta DK. Cervical congenital infantile fibrosarcoma: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2019; 13: 41
- [76] H B. Thyroglossal cysts and fistulæ British Journal of Surgery 1925; 12: 579–589
- [77] H VL. Ueber fistula colli congênita Archivfür Physiologische Heilkunde. Archiv für Physiologische Heilkunde 1848; 7: 24–27
- [78] Haddadi N, Travis G, Nassif NT, Simpson AM, Marsh DJ. Toward Systems Pathology for PTEN Diagnostics. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2020; 10
- [79] Hamada K, Takeuchi Y, Kubo C, Tomita Y, Omori M, Uedo N, Ishihara R, Yamasaki Y, Yamamoto S, Akasaka T, Hanaoka N, Higashino K, Okada H, Iishi H. Sporadic Minute Pharyngeal Xanthomas Detected Incidentally During Esophagogastroduodenoscopy: A Case Series. Head Neck Pathol 2019; 13: 277–280

- [80] Hatemi G, Christensen R, Bang D, Bodaghi B, Celik AF, Fortune F, Gaudric J, Gul A, Kotter I, Leccese P, Mahr A, Moots R, Ozguler Y, Richter J, Saadoun D, Salvarani C, Scuderi F, Sfikakis PP, Siva A, Stanford M, Tugal-Tutkun I, West R, Yurdakul S, Olivieri I, Yazici H. 2018 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of Behcet's syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis 2018; 77: 808–818
- [81] Haubner F, Kuhnel T. Diagnosis and treatment of Osler's disease. HNO 2018; 66: 405–414
- [82] Heichel J, Luci E, Struck HG, Siebolts U, Wickenhauser C, Plontke S, Viestenz A, Gotze G. [Secondary acquired lacrimal duct obstruction and cervical lymphadenopathy]. HNO 2018; 66: 847–850
- [83] Heil J, Miesbach W, Vogl T, Bechstein WO, Reinisch A. Deep Vein Thrombosis of the Upper Extremity. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2017; 114: 244–249
- [84] Heiser C, Eckert D. Pathophysiology of obstructive sleep apnea. HNO 2019; 67: 654–662
- [85] Herzon FS, Harris P. Mosher Award thesis. Peritonsillar abscess: incidence, current management practices, and a proposal for treatment guidelines. Laryngoscope 1995; 105: 1–17
- [86] Hintschich CA, Vielsmeier V, Mohr A, Bohr C. Exotic retropharyngeal swelling. Laryngorhinootologie 2020; 99: 48–50
- [87] Hirsch RJ, Yousem DM, Loevner LA, Montone KT, Chalian AA, Hayden RE, Weinstein GS. Synovial sarcomas of the head and neck: MR findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1997; 169: 1185–1188
- [88] Hirt R, Krause U, Knipping S. Castleman's disease: a rare differential diagnosis for Heerfordt's syndrome. HNO 2012; 60: 1123–1126
- [89] Hsiao CT, Chang CP, Huang TY, Chen YC, Fann WC. Prospective Validation of the Laboratory Risk Indicator for Necrotizing Fasciitis (LRINEC) Score for Necrotizing Fasciitis of the Extremities. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0227748
- [90] Huang H, Abraham J, Hung E, Averbuch S, Merino M, Steinberg SM, Pacak K, Fojo T. Treatment of malignant pheochromocytoma/ paraganglioma with cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and dacarbazine: recommendation from a 22-year follow-up of 18 patients. Cancer 2008; 113: 2020–2028
- [91] Huber L, Budjan J, Rotter N, Lammert A. Necrotizing fasciitis in the head and neck region-three case reports and a review of the literature. HNO 2020
- [92] Hussain T, Maurer JT, Lang S, Stuck BA. Pathophysiology, diagnosis and treatment of Zenker's diverticulum. HNO 2017; 65: 167–176
- [93] Ickrath P, Morbach H, Schwaneck EC, Gehrke T, Scherzad A, Hagen R, Hackenberg S. Recurrent infections of the upper aerodigestive tract in patients with primary immunodeficiency. HNO 2019; 67: 819–824
- [94] Inarejos Clemente E, Oyewumi M, Propst EJ, Ngan BY, Greer ML. Thyroglossal duct cysts in children: Sonografic features every radiologist should know and their histopathological correlation. Clin Imaging 2017; 46: 57–64
- [95] Iskandarli M, Yaman B, Aslan A. A case of Bannayan-Riley-Ruvalcaba syndrome. A new clinical finding and brief review. Int J Dermatol 2016; 55: 1040–1043
- [96] Issing PR, Issing C. [Diagnosis and treatment of jugular vein thrombosis]. HNO 2019; 67: 469–482
- [97] Jacoby LB, Jones D, Davis K, Kronn D, Short MP, Gusella J, Maccollin M. Molecular analysis of the NF2 tumor-suppressor gene in schwannomatosis. Am J Hum Genet 1997; 61: 1293–1302
- [98] Jategaonkar A, Klimczak J, Agarwal J, Badhey A, Portnoy WM, Damiano A, Chai RL. Syphilis of the oropharynx: Case series of "The Great Masquerader". Am J Otolaryngol 2019; 40: 143–146
- [99] Johnson CM, Postma GN. Zenker Diverticulum Which Surgical Approach Is Superior? JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016; 142: 401–403

- [100] Jordan RB, Gauderer MW. Cervical teratomas: an analysis. Literature review and proposed classification. J Pediatr Surg 1988; 23: 583–591
- [101] Joshua AM, Ezzat S, Asa SL, Evans A, Broom R, Freeman M, Knox JJ. Rationale and evidence for sunitinib in the treatment of malignant paraganglioma/pheochromocytoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009; 94: 5–9
- [102] Kadlub N, Touma J, Leboulanger N, Garel C, Soupre V, L'hermine AC, Vazquez MP, Picard A. Head and neck teratoma: from diagnosis to treatment. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2014; 42: 1598–1603
- [103] Kaiser RE, Cerra FB. Progressive necrotizing surgical infections a unified approach. J Trauma 1981; 21: 349–355
- [104] Kalavrezos N, Sinha D. Head and neck sarcomas in adulthood: current trends and evolving management concepts. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2020
- [105] Kandan SR, Khan S, Jeyaretna DS, Lhatoo S, Patel NK, Coakham HB. Neuralgia of the glossopharyngeal and vagal nerves: long-term outcome following surgical treatment and literature review. Br J Neurosurg 2010; 24: 441–446
- [106] Kang GC, Soo KC, Lim DT. Extracranial non-vestibular head and neck schwannomas: a ten-year experience. Ann Acad Med Singap 2007; 36: 233–238
- [107] Kansara S, Bell D, Johnson J, Zafereo M. Head and neck inflammatory pseudotumor: Case series and review of the literature. Neuroradiol J 2016; 29: 440–446
- [108] Kansy K, Bodem J, Engel M, Freudlsperger C, Mohlenbruch MA, Herweh C, Bendszus M, Hoffmann J, Kargus S. Interdisciplinary treatment algorithm for facial high-flow arteriovenous malformations, and review of the literature. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2018; 46: 765–772
- [109] Kapadia SB, Meis JM, Frisman DM, Ellis GL, Heffner DK. Fetal rhabdomyoma of the head and neck: a clinicopathologic and immunophenotypic study of 24 cases. Hum Pathol 1993; 24: 754–765
- [110] Kapadia SB, Meis JM, Frisman DM, Ellis GL, Heffner DK, Hyams VJ. Adult rhabdomyoma of the head and neck: a clinicopathologic and immunophenotypic study. Hum Pathol 1993; 24: 608–617
- [111] Katusic S, Williams DB, Beard CM, Bergstralh E, Kurland LT. Incidence and clinical features of glossopharyngeal neuralgia, Rochester, Minnesota, 1945-1984. Neuroepidemiology 1991; 10: 266–275
- [112] Kisser U, Gurkov R, Flatz W, Berghaus A, Reichel O. Lemierre syndrome: a case report. Am J Otolaryngol 2012; 33: 159–162
- [113] Knopke S, Olze H, Becker ET, Manthey D, Lindig-Knopke C, Johrens K, Stolzel K, Bottcher A. Head and neck hamartomas: 10 years of experience at the Charite – University Medical Center Berlin. HNO 2015; 63: 552–556
- [114] Kondo S, Schutte BC, Richardson RJ, Bjork BC, Knight AS, Watanabe Y, Howard E, De Lima RL, Daack-Hirsch S, Sander A, Mcdonald-Mcginn DM, Zackai EH, Lammer EJ, Aylsworth AS, Ardinger HH, Lidral AC, Pober BR, Moreno L, Arcos-Burgos M, Valencia C, Houdayer C, Bahuau M, Moretti-Ferreira D, Richieri-Costa A, Dixon MJ, Murray JC. Mutations in IRF6 cause Van der Woude and popliteal pterygium syndromes. Nat Genet 2002; 32: 285–289
- [115] Kraus DH, Dubner S, Harrison LB, Strong EW, Hajdu SI, Kher U, Begg C, Brennan MF. Prognostic factors for recurrence and survival in head and neck soft tissue sarcomas. Cancer 1994; 74: 697–702
- [116] Kreiger PA, Ernst LM, Elden LM, Kazahaya K, Alawi F, Russo PA.
 Hamartomatous tongue lesions in children. Am J Surg Pathol 2007; 31: 1186–1190
- [117] Kucher N. Clinical practice. Deep-vein thrombosis of the upper extremities. N Engl J Med 2011; 364: 861–869
- [118] Kuhn J, Constantinidis J, Iro H, Dill-Muller D, Pahl S. Changes of uncertain origin of mouth mucosa. Syphilis I, oral manifestation. HNO 1999; 47: 202–203

- [119] Kunzel J, Bahr K, Hainz M, Rossmann H, Matthias C. Head and neck paragangliomas: An interdisciplinary challenge. HNO 2015; 63: 826–830
- [120] Leslie EJ, Koboldt DC, Kang CJ, Ma L, Hecht JT, Wehby GL, Christensen K, Czeizel AE, Deleyiannis FW, Fulton RS, Wilson RK, Beaty TH, Schutte BC, Murray JC, Marazita ML. IRF6 mutation screening in non-syndromic orofacial clefting: analysis of 1521 families. Clin Genet 2016; 90: 28–34
- [121] Li X, Wang Y, Wang F, Li B, Sun S, Yang H. An unusual case of oropharyngeal chordoma: A case report and literature review. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017; 96: e8963
- [122] Li YD, Veliceasa D, Lamano JB, Lamano JB, Kaur G, Biyashev D, Horbinski CM, Kruser TJ, Bloch O. Systemic and local immunosuppression in patients with high-grade meningiomas. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2019; 68: 999–1009
- [123] Liu AY, Nabel CS, Finkelman BS, Ruth JR, Kurzrock R, Van Rhee F, Krymskaya VP, Kelleher D, Rubenstein AH, Fajgenbaum DC. Idiopathic multicentric Castleman's disease: a systematic literature review. Lancet Haematol 2016; 3: e163–e175
- [124] London WB, Castleberry RP, Matthay KK, Look AT, Seeger RC, Shimada H, Thorner P, Brodeur G, Maris JM, Reynolds CP, Cohn SL. Evidence for an age cutoff greater than 365 days for neuroblastoma risk group stratification in the Children's Oncology Group. J Clin Oncol 2005; 23: 6459–6465
- [125] Duale MK. Reihe Allgemeinmedizin und Familienmedizin. Stuttgart: Thieme; 2017: 1–688
- [126] Malempati S, Hawkins DS. Rhabdomyosarcoma: review of the Children's Oncology Group (COG) Soft-Tissue Sarcoma Committee experience and rationale for current COG studies. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2012; 59: 5–10
- [127] Mangold AR, Torgerson RR, Rogers RS 3rd. Diseases of the tongue. Clin Dermatol 2016; 34: 458–469
- [128] Mann WJ, Jecker P, Amedee RG. Juvenile angiofibromas: changing surgical concept over the last 20 years. Laryngoscope 2004; 114: 291–293
- [129] Marino-Enriquez A, Hornick JL, Dal Cin P, Cibas ES, Qian X. Dedifferentiated liposarcoma and pleomorphic liposarcoma: a comparative study of cytomorphology and MDM2/CDK4 expression on fine-needle aspiration. Cancer Cytopathol 2014; 122: 128–137
- [130] Mark RJ, Sercarz JA, Tran L, Selch M, Calcaterra TC. Fibrosarcoma of the head and neck. The UCLA experience. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1991; 117: 396–401
- [131] Masood MM, Mieczkowski P, Malc EP, Foreman AKM, Evans JP, Clark JM, Rose AS. Congenital Midline Cervical Cleft: First Report and Genetic Analysis of Two Related Patients. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2020; 129: 653–656
- [132] Megna M, Balato N, Patruno C, Ayala F. Anterior cervical hypertrichosis: a case report and review of the literature. Pediatr Dermatol 2015; 32: 252–255
- [133] Minovi A, Basten O, Hunter B, Draf W, Bockmuhl U. Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors of the head and neck: management of 10 cases and literature review. Head Neck 2007; 29: 439–445
- [134] Moody MW, Chi DH, Mason JC, Phillips CD, Gross CW, Schlosser RJ. Tornwaldt's cyst: incidence and a case report. Ear Nose Throat J 2007; 86: 52
- [135] Moore MG, Netterville JL, Mendenhall WM, Isaacson B. Nussenbaum B. Head and Neck Paragangliomas: An Update on Evaluation and Management. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016; 154: 597–605
- [136] Mora J, Cruz O, Parareda A, Sola T, De Torres C. Treatment of disseminated paraganglioma with gemcitabine and docetaxel. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2009; 53: 663–665

- [137] Mortensen M, Ivey CM, Iida M, Woo P. Superior thyroid cornu syndrome: an unusual cause of cervical dysphagia. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 2009; 118: 833–838
- [138] Muller S. Non-infectious Granulomatous Lesions of the Orofacial Region. Head Neck Pathol 2019; 13: 449–456
- [139] Muller-Hermelink HK. Ectopic meningioma in the tonsil. Pathologe 1997; 18: 172–173
- [140] Naghavi SE, Jalali MM. Papillary carcinoma of thyroglossal duct cyst. Med Sci Monit 2003; 9: CS67–CS70
- [141] Nawa H, Oberoi S, Vargervik K.. Taurodontism and Van der Woude syndrome. Is there an association? Angle Orthod 2008; 78: 832–837
- [142] Neumann HP, Bausch B, Mcwhinney SR, Bender BU, Gimm O, Franke G, Schipper J, Klisch J, Altehoefer C, Zerres K, Januszewicz A, Eng C, Smith WM, Munk R, Manz T, Glaesker S, Apel TW, Treier M, Reineke M, Walz MK, Hoang-Vu C, Brauckhoff M, Klein-Franke A, Klose P, Schmidt H, Maier-Woelfle M, Peczkowska M, Szmigielski C, Eng C. Freiburg-Warsaw-Columbus Pheochromocytoma Study G. Germ-line mutations in nonsyndromic pheochromocytoma. N Engl J Med 2002; 346: 1459–1466
- [143] Niikawa N, Matsuura N, Fukushima Y, Ohsawa T, Kajii T. Kabuki make-up syndrome: a syndrome of mental retardation, unusual facies, large and protruding ears, and postnatal growth deficiency. J Pediatr 1981; 99: 565–569
- [144] Nimura F, Nakasone T, Matsumoto H, Maruyama T, Matayoshi A, Maruyama N, Yoshimi N, Arasaki A, Nishihara K. Dedifferentiated liposarcoma of the oral floor: A case study and literature review of 50 cases of head and neck neoplasm. Oncol Lett 2018; 15: 7681–7688
- [145] O'neill JP, Bilsky MH, Kraus D. Head and neck sarcomas: epidemiology, pathology, and management. Neurosurg Clin N Am 2013; 24: 67–78
- [146] Oberlin O, Rey A, Lyden E, Bisogno G, Stevens MC, Meyer WH, Carli M, Anderson JR. Prognostic factors in metastatic rhabdomyosarcomas: results of a pooled analysis from United States and European cooperative groups. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26: 2384–2389
- [147] Orozco-Gutierrez MH, Sanchez-Corona J, Garcia-Ortiz JE, Castaneda-Cisneros G, Davalos-Rodriguez NO, Corona-Rivera JR, Garcia-Cruz D. Anterior cervical hypertrichosis: case report. Arch Argent Pediatr 2016; 114: e314–e318
- [148] Parham DM, Barr FG. Classification of rhabdomyosarcoma and its molecular basis. Adv Anat Pathol 2013; 20: 387–397
- [149] Pilarski R. PTEN Hamartoma Tumor Syndrome: A Clinical Overview. Cancers. Basel; 2019: 11
- [150] Pilarski R, Burt R, Kohlman W, Pho L, Shannon KM, Swisher E. Cowden syndrome and the PTEN hamartoma tumor syndrome: systematic review and revised diagnostic criteria. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013; 105: 1607–1616
- [151] Prasad KC, Kamath MP, Reddy KJ, Raju K, Agarwal S. Elongated styloid process (Eagle's syndrome): a clinical study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2002; 60: 171–175
- [152] Puscas L. Midline cervical cleft: review of an uncommon entity. Int J Pediatr 2015; 2015: 209418
- [153] Ramchandani R, Chumber S. Familial Occurrence of Thyroglossal Duct Cyst. Indian J Surg 2017; 79: 566–568
- [154] Rangheard AS, Vanel D, Viala J, Schwaab G, Casiraghi O, Sigal R. Synovial sarcomas of the head and neck: CT and MR imaging findings of eight patients. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2001; 22: 851–857
- [155] Rapp C, Dettling S, Liu F, Ull AT, Warta R, Jungk C, Roesch S, Mock A, Sahm F, Schmidt M, Jungwirth G, Zweckberger K, Lamszus K, Gousias K, Kessler AF, Grabe N, Loehr M, Ketter R, Urbschat S, Senft C, Westphal M, Abdollahi A, Debus J, Von Deimling A, Unterberg A, Simon M, Herold-Mende CC. Cytotoxic T Cells and their Activation

Status are Independent Prognostic Markers in Meningiomas. Clin Cancer Res 2019; 25: 5260–5270

- [156] Reddy ST, Antaya RJ. Two cases of isolated anterior cervical hypertrichosis. Pediatr Dermatol 2010; 27: 531–533
- [157] Reid CO, Smith CJ. Rhabdomyoma of the floor of the mouth: a new case and review of recently reported intra-oral rhabdomyomas. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1985; 23: 284–291
- [158] Reiter R, Haase S, Brosch S. Orofacial clefts. Laryngorhinootologie 2012; 91: 84–95
- [159] Reiter R, Ruess J, Brosch S, Pickhard A. Refractory Hoarseness In Granular Cell Tumor of the Vocal Cord. Laryngorhinootologie 2016; 95: 125–126
- [160] Ren S, Li XY, Wang F, Zhang P, Zhang Y, Li GS, Wang L, Zhong X. Nephrotic syndrome associated with Kimura's disease: a case report and literature review. BMC Nephrol 2018; 19: 316
- [161] Repetto GM, Guzman ML, Delgado I, Loyola H, Palomares M, Lay-Son G, Vial C, Benavides F, Espinoza K, Alvarez P. Case fatality rate and associated factors in patients with 22q11 microdeletion syndrome: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open 2014; 4: e005041
- [162] Rinaldo A, Mannara GM, Fisher C, Ferlito A. Hamartoma of the larynx: a critical review of the literature. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1998; 107: 264–267
- [163] Rivera-Serrano CM, Man LX, Klein S, Schaitkin BM. Melkersson-Rosenthal syndrome: a facial nerve center perspective. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2014; 67: 1050–1054
- [164] Rogers L, Barani I, Chamberlain M, Kaley TJ, Mcdermott M, Raizer J, Schiff D, Weber DC, Wen PY, Vogelbaum MA. Meningiomas: knowledge base, treatment outcomes, and uncertainties. A RANO review. J Neurosurg 2015; 122: 4–23
- [165] Rudolph J, Just M, Trawinski H, Monecke A. A rare differential diagnosis of tonsillopharyngitis. Laryngorhinootologie 2019; 98: 105–107
- [166] Sajid MS, Ahmed N, Desai M, Baker D, Hamilton G. Upper limb deep vein thrombosis: a literature review to streamline the protocol for management. Acta Haematol 2007; 118: 10–18
- [167] Saluja TS, Iyer J, Singh SK. Leiomyosarcoma: Prognostic outline of a rare head and neck malignancy. Oral Oncol 2019; 95: 100–105
- [168] Sanchez IM, Lowenstein S, Johnson KA, Babik J, Haag C, Keller JJ, Ortega-Loayza AG, Cohen J, Mccalmont TH, Demer AM, Mansh MD, Hylwa SA, Liu J, Shinkai K. Clinical Features of Neutrophilic Dermatosis Variants Resembling Necrotizing Fasciitis. JAMA Dermatol 2019; 155: 79–84
- [169] Schader I, Robertson S, Maoate K, Beasley S. Hereditary thyroglossal duct cysts. Pediatr Surg Int 2005; 21: 593–594
- [170] Schmidt E, Kasperkiewicz M. Joly P. Pemphigus. Lancet 2019; 394: 882–894
- [171] Schmidt E, Zillikens D. Pemphigoid diseases. Lancet 2013; 381: 320–332
- [172] Schneider R, Elwerr M, Lorenz K, Plontke S, Dralle H, Ukkat J. Surgical treatment options for cervical paragangliomas. Chirurg 2019; 90: 29–36
- [173] Schumann R, Lorenz KJ, Tisch M, Maier H. Laryngeal and pharyngeal actinomycosis. HNO 2010; 58: 867–871
- [174] Seitz D, Todt I, Boga E, Yasin A, Sudhoff H. Ectopic thyroid tissue after total thyroidectomy. HNO 2020; 68: 447–450
- [175] Send T, Spiegel JL, Schade G, Pantelis A, Olthoff A, Bootz F, Canis M, Jakob M. Amyloidosis of the Upper Aerodigestive Tract: Management of a Rare Disease and Review of the Literature. Dysphagia 2019; 34: 179–191

- [176] Seppala MT, Sainio MA, Haltia MJ, Kinnunen JJ, Setala KH, Jaaskelainen JE. Multiple schwannomas: schwannomatosis or neurofibromatosis type 2? J Neurosurg 1998; 89: 36–41
- [177] Sevim Bayrak C, Itan Y. Identifying disease-causing mutations in genomes of single patients by computational approaches. Hum Genet 2020; 139: 769–776
- [178] Sharma NC, Efstratiou A, Mokrousov I, Mutreja A, Das B, Ramamurthy T. Diphtheria. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2019; 5: 81
- [179] Shine NP, Sader C, Gollow I, Lannigan FJ. Congenital cervical teratomas: diagnostic, management and postoperative variability. Auris Nasus Larynx 2006; 33: 107–111
- [180] Sistrunk WE. The Surgical Treatment of Cysts of the Thyroglossal Tract. Ann Surg 1920; 71: 122
- [181] Smith MA, Altekruse SF, Adamson PC, Reaman GH, Seibel NL. Declining childhood and adolescent cancer mortality. Cancer 2014; 120: 2497–2506
- [182] Snowden J, Stovall S. Tularemia: retrospective review of 10 years' experience in Arkansas. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2011; 50: 64–68
- [183] Soriano A, Soriano M, Espinosa G, Manna R, Emmi G, Cantarini L, Hernandez-Rodriguez J. Current Therapeutic Options for the Main Monogenic Autoinflammatory Diseases and PFAPA Syndrome: Evidence-Based Approach and Proposal of a Practical Guide. Front Immunol 2020; 11: 865
- [184] Stacchiotti S, Longhi A, Ferraresi V, Grignani G, Comandone A, Stupp R, Bertuzzi A, Tamborini E, Pilotti S, Messina A, Spreafico C, Gronchi A, Amore P, Vinaccia V, Casali PG. Phase II study of imatinib in advanced chordoma. J Clin Oncol 2012; 30: 914–920
- [185] Stacchiotti S, Sommer J. Chordoma Global Consensus G Building a global consensus approach to chordoma: a position paper from the medical and patient community. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16: e71–e83
- [186] Stone RH, Bress AP, Nutescu EA, Shapiro NL. Upper-Extremity Deep-Vein Thrombosis: A Retrospective Cohort Evaluation of Thrombotic Risk Factors at a University Teaching Hospital Antithrombosis Clinic. Ann Pharmacother 2016; 50: 637–644
- [187] Strutz JMW. Praxis der HNO-Heilkunde, Kopf-Halschirurgie. Stuttgart: Thieme; 2017: 1–1120
- [188] Stuck BA, Maurer JT. Recent developments in the diagnosis and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea: English version. HNO 2017; 65: 13–18
- [189] Suarez C, Rodrigo JP, Bodeker CC, Llorente JL, Silver CE, Jansen JC, Takes RP, Strojan P, Pellitteri PK, Rinaldo A, Mendenhall WM. Ferlito Jugular and vagal paragangliomas: Systematic study of management with surgery and radiotherapy. Head Neck 2013; 35: 1195–1204
- [190] Sudarsky LA, Laschinger JC, Coppa GF, Spencer FC. Improved results from a standardized approach in treating patients with necrotizing fasciitis. Ann Surg 1987; 206: 661–665
- [191] Sweet RD. An Acute Febrile Neutrophilic Dermatosis. Br J Dermatol 1964; 76: 349–356
- [192] Tache P, Henschke F, Folz BJ. Recurrent epistaxis in the presence of a nasopharyngeal mass. HNO 2020; 68: 869–871
- [193] Tachibana T, Kariya S, Orita Y, Makino T, Haruna T, Matsuyama Y, Komatsubara Y, Naoi Y, Nakada M, Wani Y, Fushimi S, Hotta M, Haruna K, Nagatani T, Sato Y, Nishizaki K. The efficacy of OK-432 sclerotherapy on thyroglossal duct cyst and the influence on a subsequent surgical procedure. Acta Otolaryngol 2019; 139: 788–792
- [194] Thiele OC, Kreppel M, Dunsche A, Eckardt AM, Ehrenfeld M, Fleiner B, Gassling V, Gehrke G, Gerressen M, Gosau M, Grobe A, Hassfeld S, Heiland M, Hoffmeister B, Holzle F, Klein C, Kruger M, Kubler AC, Kubler NR, Kuttenberger JJ, Landes C, Lauer G, Martini M, Merholz ET, Mischkowski RA, Al-Nawas B, Nkenke E, Piesold JU, Pradel W, Rasse M, Rachwalski M, Reich RH, Rothamel D, Rustemeyer J, Scheer M, Schliephake H, Schmelzeisen R, Schramm A, Schupp W, Spitzer WJ,

Stocker E, Stoll C, Terheyden H, Voigt A, Wagner W, Weingart D, Werkmeister R, Wiltfang J, Ziegler CM, Zoller JE. Current concepts in cleft care: A multicenter analysis. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2018; 46: 705–708

- [195] Thienpont B, Vermeesch J, Devriendt K. Anterior cervical hypertrichosis and mental retardation. Clin Dysmorphol 2006; 15: 189–190
- [196] Thukral H, Nagori SA, Rawat A, Jose A. Pterygoid Hamulus Bursitis: A Rare Intra-Oral Pain Syndrome. J Craniofac Surg 2019; 30: e643–e645
- [197] Timmermann B. [Proton therapy-a chance in the treatment of tumors of the head and neck and base of skull]. HNO 2020; 68: 640–647
- [198] Trail ML, Zeringue GP, Chicola JP. Carcinoma in thyroglossal duct remnants. Laryngoscope 1977; 87: 1685–1691
- [199] Tran LM, Mark R, Meier R, Calcaterra TC, Parker RG. Sarcomas of the head and neck. Prognostic factors and treatment strategies. Cancer 1992; 70: 169–177
- [200] Trueb RM, Borelli S, Gloor M, Wuthrich B. Prepubertal hypertrichosis. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 1994; 124: 595–600
- [201] Trujillo O, Cui IH, Malone M, Suurna M. An unusual presentation of a rare benign tumor in the head and neck: A review of hibernomas. Laryngoscope 2015; 125: 1656–1659
- [202] Ueno S, Hirakawa H, Matsuda H, Tei E, Kaneko A, Ohta Y, Kajiwara H. A case of neonatal mature teratoma transformed to malignancy in the neck extending to the mouth floor. Tokai J Exp Clin Med 2009; 34: 130–134
- [203] Van Der Woude A. Fistula labii inferioris congenita and its association with cleft lip and palate. Am J Hum Genet 1954; 6: 244–256
- [204] Verse T, Hormann K. The surgical treatment of sleep-related upper airway obstruction. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2011; 108: 216–221
- [205] Wanes P, Nolte DA, Tranesh GA. Hypopharyngeal Dedifferentiated Liposarcoma in the MDM2 Era: A Case Report and Short Review. Case Rep Pathol 2020; 2020: 2968467
- [206] Wang L, Long B, Zhou Q, Zeng S. Prenatal diagnosis of a "living" oropharyngeal fetus in fetu: a case report. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2019; 19: 453
- [207] Westhout FD, Mathews M, Pare LS, Armstrong WB, Tully P, Linskey ME. Recognizing schwannomatosis and distinguishing it from neurofibromatosis type 1 or 2. J Spinal Disord Tech 2007; 20: 329–332
- [208] Wibmer C, Leithner A, Zielonke N, Sperl M, Windhager R. Increasing incidence rates of soft tissue sarcomas? A population-based epidemiologic study and literature review. Ann Oncol 2010; 21: 1106–1111
- [209] Wiegand S, Wichmann G, Dietz A. Treatment of Lymphatic Malformations with the mTOR Inhibitor Sirolimus: A Systematic Review. Lymphat Res Biol 2018; 16: 330–339
- [210] Wong CH, Khin LW, Heng KS, Tan KC, Low CO. The LRINEC (Laboratory Risk Indicator for Necrotizing Fasciitis) score: a tool for distinguishing necrotizing fasciitis from other soft tissue infections. Crit Care Med 2004; 32: 1535–1541
- [211] Yarchoan R, Uldrick TS. HIV-Associated Cancers and Related Diseases. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 1029–1041
- [212] Yu YR, Espinoza J, Mehta DK, Keswani SG, Lee TC. Perinatal diagnosis and management of oropharyngeal fetus in fetu: A case report. J Clin Ultrasound 2018; 46: 286–291
- [213] Zirkler J, Plontke SK, Schultka R, Kosling S. Acute cervical pain syndrome. HNO 2014; 62: 454–456